
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 29 January 2018 
7.00 pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Caroline Needham (Chair) 
Councillor Alan De'Ath 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery 
 

Councillor Caroline Ffiske (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Marcus Ginn 
 

Co-optees 

Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 
Philippa O'Driscoll, Westminster Diocesan Education Service Representative 
Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 
Vic Daniels, Parent Governor Representative 
Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative 
 

 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
This meeting is open to the public. The agenda is available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the 
building. 

Date Issued: 19 January 2018 
 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Children and Education Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

29 January 2018 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 7 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

   

4.   DIRECTOR'S UPDATE REPORT  
This report provides an overview of recent developments in Children’s 
Services. 
 

8 - 15 

5.   CABINET MEMBER'S VERBAL UPDATE  
 

 

6.   A DRAFT CONSULTATIVE REPORT ON H&F COUNCIL’S 
EMERGENCY RESPONSE TO MAJOR INCIDENTS IN JUNE AND 
SEPTEMBER 2017  

16 - 63 

 In 2017 there were two major incidents in and around Hammersmith & 
Fulham that required the authority to implement its emergency planning 
procedures - the fire at Grenfell Tower and an explosion on a tube train 
in Parsons Green. 
 
This report reviews the Council’s response at both strategic and 
operational levels, identifies action taken to date to improve readiness, 
and makes recommendations for further improvements. 
 

 

7.   CHILDREN'S SERVICES BUDGET PROPOSALS 2018-19  64 - 81 

 This report sets out the budget proposals for Children’s Services and 
provides an update on changes to fees and charges. 
 

 

8.   LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17  82 - 106 

 This report highlights the significant responsibilities the local authority 
has in relation to Looked After Children and Care Leavers, and how it 
discharges those duties. 
 

 

9.   WORK PROGRAMME  107 - 108 

 To note the work programme. 
 

 

10.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting is scheduled for 12 March 2018.  



 
 
More information on declarations of interest 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it is 
entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant interest which they 
consider should be declared in the public interest, they should declare the existence and, 
unless it is a sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and speak, any 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote 
taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, then the 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from the meeting whilst the 
matter is under consideration. Councillors who have declared other significant interests 
should also withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation in the 
matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a 
conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation to that effect 
has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee.   
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Children and Education Policy 
and Accountability Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 13 November 2017 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Caroline Needham (Chair), Alan De'Ath, 
Elaine Chumnery and Marcus Ginn 
 
Co-opted members: Eleanor Allen (London Diocesan Board for Schools), Nadia 
Taylor (Parent Governor Representative) and Vic Daniels (Parent Governor 
Representative) 
 
Officers: 
Dave McNamara (Director for Finance & Resources), Ian Heggs (Director for 
Education), Bev Sharpe (Assistant Director of Family Services), Anna Carpenter 
(Safeguarding Review & Quality Assurance Manager), Redouan Maarouf (Head of 
Service Contact & Assessment), David Abbott (Scrutiny Manager) 
 
Guests: 
Jenny Pearce (Chair of the LSCB), Emma Biskupski (LSCB Multi-Agency Training 
Officer) 
 
 

1. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2017 were approved and 
signed by the Chair. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sue Macmillan, Councillor 
Caroline Ffiske, Nandini Ganesh, Philippa O’Driscoll, and Matthew Jenkins. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
There were no public questions. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

5. DIRECTOR'S UPDATE REPORT  
 
Ian Heggs, Director for Education, and Dave McNamara, Director for Finance and 
Resources, presented the report which gave an overview of recent developments 
within the Children’s Services department. 
 
Schools Funding 
Councillor Alan De’Ath asked, regarding school funding, how the Government 
defined an ‘underfunded’ school. Dave McNamara said none of the schools in 
Hammersmith and Fulham were underfunded. However, the headline figure of an 
additional 0.5 percent for all schools was misleading as that would not necessarily be 
spread evenly across the borough and not all schools were guaranteed an increase. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath noted that with the changes to pension contributions, national 
insurance contributions etc. even a small increase in funding would not keep pace 
with the pressures facing schools. He said it would be useful to see a breakdown of 
exactly what additional funding each school would receive. Dave McNamara said 
that information would be released as soon as it was agreed with schools through 
the School’s Forum. 
 
School Performance 
Councillor Marcus Ginn noted that selected religious schools such as London 
Oratory and Sacred Heart consistently achieved impressive results - and asked we 
could learn from them and apply to lower and mid-ranking schools. Ian Heggs said 
there were already a range of ways schools shared good practice. There was a 
strong secondary heads group in the borough and an excellence programme where 
heads shared practice – particularly around English and maths teaching. 
 
Councillor Ginn asked what the secret of these very successful schools was – why 
did they consistently out-perform other schools? Ian Heggs said there were a 
number of factors – the best schools were always over-subscribed which meant they 
received more funding than schools with spare places, they found it easier to recruit 
and retain staff. They also had clear expectations for their pupils. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath noted that he had worked in a religious school and the shared 
ethos was a powerful factor – but there were religious schools with poor performance 
too so it wasn’t the defining factor. The real reason for the impressive performance of 
these school was because they were selective. Their admissions criteria is written in 
such a way that they don’t take as many lower performing pupils as other schools. 
They shouldn’t be compared with other schools. 
 
Ian Heggs commented that where a school’s admissions criteria wasn’t appropriate 
the Council did support challenges. Officers had worked with the schools mentioned 
earlier and they were compliant with the code. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath said the key indicator to judge schools should be Progress 8 
as it measured progress pupils had made since they started secondary school. He 
also highlighted the impressive turn-around at Hurlingham Academy, where he was 
a Governor, and wanted to formally thank Stephen Greenhalgh, the Chair of 
Governors, and the headteacher, Leon Wilson, for their hard work. 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
The Chair requested information on schools that required parents to make financial 
contributions. The Committee had concerns that it was an additional pressure for 
some parents whose budgets were stretched to the limit. Councillor De’Ath asked for 
information from officers on what else schools were doing to plug the gaps in their 
budget – and offer suggestions for how the Council could support them in different 
ways. 

ACTION 1: Dave McNamara 
Family Support Service – Managing Director 
The Chair asked if the Managing Director of the new Family Support Service had 
been appointed. Dave McNamara confirmed that Peter Watts was the successful 
candidate and would be starting on the 1st of March 2018. 
 
Moving On (the disaggregation of the tri-borough arrangements) 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked for an update on the Children’s Services 
elements of ‘Moving On’. Dave McNamara said staff consultation had begun on the 
new staffing structures. Some services would remain shared where there were 
operational advantages in doing do. The new structures would be implemented 
between 24 March and 2 April. Ian Heggs noted that Mandy Lawson had been 
appointed as the Assistant Director for SEND for H&F and would officially take up 
post in January. 
 
Councillor Chumnery asked if the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) would 
remain shared across the three boroughs. Emma Biskupski, LSCB Multi-Agency 
Training Officer, said there was a commitment to keep it as a shared arrangement 
due to the strengths of cross-border cooperation between many of their partners. 
 
The Chair requested a report on ‘Moving On’ for the next meeting in January 2018. 
 

ACTION 2: Steve Miley 
 

6. CABINET MEMBER VERBAL UPDATE  
 
Councillor Sue Macmillan was unable to attend the meeting due to illness so there 
was no update from the Cabinet Member. 
 
Dave McNamara noted the recent launch of the childcare survey which would help 
inform the Council of parents’ requirements for childcare and childcare sufficiency in 
the borough. 
 

7. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 2016-
17  
 
Jenny Pearce, Chair of the LSCB and Emma Biskupski, LSCB Multi-Agency Training 
Officer, presented the report. Emma informed the Committee that the LSCB 
comprised a range of agencies including the local authority, probation services, local 
prisons, health services, schools, and the police. The whole group meets quarterly 
and there were also a range of sub-groups that met on an ad hoc basis. These sub-
groups include child death overview that examined every child death in the 
boroughs, expected and unexpected. 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery, noting the priorities for 2016-17, asked what the 
priorities were for 2017-18. Jenny Pearce said they would be domestic violence and 
peer on peer violence - but that didn’t mean they would lose sight of previous areas 
(e.g. online safety). Councillor Chumnery asked if the Board had met its priorities for 
2016-17. Jenny Pearce said there was still some work to do – she was keen the 
Board didn’t silo the issues facing children. Going forward they would take a more 
holistic approach as so many issues were cross-cutting. She added that in future the 
Board would have more engagement with young people when setting priorities. 
 
The Chair noted that the Deputy Youth Mayor had recently released a video 
speaking about LGBTQ+ issues, including homophobic bullying. She suggested it 
could be used to inform some of their anti-bullying work. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath noted that at a recent scrutiny committee he Chaired they 
looked at hate crime – and the largest proportion of that was homophobic attacks. 
He suggested it should be more of a focus for the Board. Emma Biskupski said they 
would look into that area in more detail. 
 
Anna Carpenter, Safeguarding Review & Quality Assurance Manager, said this area 
was a focus for the Council’s Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) lead. Providing a 
supportive platform that allowed young people to come forward was key. Young gay 
men particularly found it difficult to be open and honest about what had happened to 
them. 
 
Nadia Taylor, in reference to the table on page 21 of the agenda, asked how the 
Council could plan for reductions to child protection plans – did that not entirely 
depend on external factors? Bev Sharpe responded that historically, the Council had 
far too many young people remaining on plans when they should have been 
stepped-down to other support services. 
 
Nadia Taylor asked if the Board could provide the number of children missing in 
H&F. Bev Sharpe said the number would be relatively low. Missing children were 
tracked week to week – on average there would be around 10-12 a week. When they 
were found a ‘return home’ interview was carried out by social workers to understand 
why they were missing and the Police were required to do ‘safe and welfare’ checks. 
Nadia asked how many remained missing. Bev said no children had been 
permanently missing in recent years. 
 
Nadia Taylor asked for more information on the Alan Wood review. Emma Biskupski 
said the review was commissioned to look at the functions of the LSCB. One of the 
key proposals was to have a national panel to look at cases with national impact. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery commented there was still confusion over the single 
point of access (SPA) and information about it needed to be shared more widely 
(with all social landlords for example). Emma Biskupski said she would take that 
away and challenge how it was being promoted. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath felt there needed to be a strategy for retaining social workers 
and improve the continuity of workers on cases. Bev Sharpe said this was a key area 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

for Children’s Services. The department worked hard to recruit good people and 
retain them and had set up a new work-stream on this (including housing costs). 
There was already a TeachFirst-like programme to bring people into the profession 
and the department had a competitive progression system. They had also invested 
in practice assistants – officers that would do admin tasks for social workers to allow 
them to focus more direct time on working with families. 
 
Vic Daniels, in reference to page 67 of the agenda, asked why the 2016-17 
underspend for Hammersmith & Fulham appeared to be so high. Emma Biskupski 
said she would look into this and provide more information outside the meeting. 
 
The Chair asked what work had been done to tackle forced marriage. Emma 
Biskupski said the Board had done a lot of awareness-raising around harmful cultural 
practices including forced marriage and female genital mutilation. She noted that the 
number of referrals on these issues in the borough remained low. Anna Carpenter 
added that Children’s Services had a child protection advisor who led on cultural 
issues - offering specific advice and signposting to resources. Though there were 
low numbers of these issues reported in the borough it was likely that more remained 
hidden. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked how the Council could make social landlords 
aware of the issues discussed above. Emma Biskupski said they did a lot of training 
with housing staff and there were housing representatives on partnership groups. 
Councillor Chumnery said the Board needed to get this information out to all social 
landlords – not just the larger, more engaged providers. 
 
Jenny Pearce said she had been impressed by the commitment and engagement 
from a range of partners in the borough. Though she did have some concerns that 
child protection was seen as the job of the LSCB alone. More work needed to be 
done to break down that attitude and engage with the private sector (hotels, taxis, 
bouncers etc.). 
 
Vic Daniels asked how many of the LSCB members were there as parent 
representatives. Emma Biskupski said there were lay members (or community 
members) but none were specifically representing parents. The Chair suggested 
having an experienced foster parent on the Board – they would be familiar with many 
of the issues facing young people and could provide real value and insight. Jenny 
Pearce said the Board was undertaking a review of lay-member recruitment and they 
would consider that proposal. 
 
RESOLVED 

1. The Committee recommend that the LSCB retained lay members and 
consider appointing an experienced foster carer to represent parents. 

2. The Committee also recommended that the LSCB explored ways to widen its 
recruitment of lay members through improved community engagement. 

 
 
 
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

8. ANNUAL CHILD PROTECTION REPORT 2016-2017  
 
Anna Carpenter, Safeguarding Review & Quality Assurance Manager, presented the 
report that highlighted the significant responsibilities which the local authority had 
with regards to ensuring the protection of children, and how it discharged them. 
 
Vic Daniels asked what the Council was doing to identify, control, and eradicate 
gang activity in the borough. Bev Sharpe said the Council was looking at this issue 
more strategically. Many young offenders were known to social services and had 
child protection plans. This year the Youth Offending Service was being brought 
back in house to H&F which would allow the Council to provide more effective 
intervention services. The Council was also working closely with schools, the police, 
and other partners across London on gangs and knife crime. Councillor Elaine 
Chumnery felt it was important to tap into existing community networks to help tackle 
gangs, especially considering the Council’s limited resources. The Chair requested a 
report on the Council’s gangs and knife crime prevention work. 
 
Anna Carpenter said the key to tackling gang crime over the long term was 
preventative work to stop young people joining gangs in the first place. She had 
found relationship-based outreach work to be most effective. Bev Sharpe added that 
a pilot ‘adolescent at risk’ approach would start up in March where one key worker 
would be assigned to each at-risk young person and they would be given far more 
personalised support. 
 
Councillor Alan De’Ath said it was also important to address the lack of aspiration 
and opportunity. For some, education was not seen as a route to success. He 
wanted to see the best schools in the borough reserve places for young people who 
had to undertake ‘managed moves’. The current system meant schools with the 
most spare places (often the worse performing) ended up taking pupils who had 
been moved out of other schools for bad behaviour. This created a cycle of poor 
outcomes for both the pupil and the school. He also suggested some pupils in 
expensive alternative provision could be offered places in boarding schools to give 
them access to quality education in a different environment. 
 
Bev Sharpe agreed that lack of aspiration was a major issue. Now that the education 
service was becoming sovereign again officers were looking at a new education offer 
to tackle some of these issues. Officers were also looking at replicating the ‘virtual 
school’ model used for looked after children – which, as the Chair noted, had been 
very successful in improving aspiration and outcomes – for the new adolescent 
service. 
 
Councillor Elaine Chumnery asked what the general advice to parents was in terms 
of support and referrals. Anna Carpenter said one borough put a piece in the local 
free paper (e.g. ‘if you’re worried about your child get in touch’). She felt it was 
important to think creatively – perhaps using targeted social media, Facebook 
adverts etc. Councillor Chumnery said there was a lot more outreach to do – the 
message had to get out to Children’s Centres, parents networks, and beyond. 
 
The Chair commented that the Council should think about the tone of its 
communications with parents. If a child didn’t turn up to school we should be saying, 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

‘you’re probably as worried as we are - we can help’ rather than laying down the law 
and pushing them away. Parents are worried about being blamed when we should 
be encouraging them to engage. Bev Sharpe said the Early Help service did offer 
support to parents in those circumstances. 
 
The Chair asked if the Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation panel (MASE) would remain 
a shared service after Moving On. Anna Carpenter said it would as there were so 
many cross-border issues and strong information sharing gave the best chance to 
affect change. The Chair asked how many live cases there were currently. Anna 
responded that H&F had the most, likely due to differences in demographics 
between the boroughs, but there was a dedicated Child Sexual Exploitation lead to 
deal with these issues. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee reviewed and commented upon the report. 
 

9. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee requested the following items: 

 Home education 

 Moving On – to be considered in January 2018 

 Gangs and knife crime prevention including our current gangs policy, an 
overview of current work, and what’s left to do – for March 2018 

 Medical plans – a briefing note to be circulated outside of the meeting 

 Skills for young people – March 2018 
 

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The next meeting was scheduled for 29 January 2017. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.20 pm 

 
 
Chair   

 
 
 
 
Contact officer David Abbott 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 Tel 020 8753 2063 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 7



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
29 January 2018  

 

 

DIRECTOR’S UPDATE REPORT 
 

Report of the Director for Children’s Services – Steve Miley 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information  
Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Director: Steve Miley, Director for Children’s Services 
 

Report Author: 
Steve Miley, Director for Children’s 
Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 753 2300 
Steve.Miley@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report provides a brief overview of recent developments of relevance to 

the Children’s Services department for members of the Policy and 
Accountability Committee to consider. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. The Committee is asked to review and comment upon the contents of this 

report. 
 
3. EDUCATION 
 

Ofsted Inspections on local schools  
 
3.1 Kenmont Primary School was inspected in November 2017 and maintained its 

good rating.  Ofsted noted that ‘the leadership team has maintained the good 
quality of education in the school since the last inspection, with an accurate 
understanding of how children learn. The previous inspection recommended 
increasing the proportion of outstanding teaching by fostering pupils’ enquiry 
and investigation skills in lessons. The Inspection Team found evidence in the 
pupil’s work, particularly in science, that they were investigating through 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Steve.Miley@lbhf.gov.uk


experimentation, enhancing their learning and enabling them to make good 
progress.  

 
3.2 The Hurlingham Academy was inspected in October 2017 and received a 

good rating. Ofsted noted that the school was much improved, with leaders 
highly ambitious for the academy and its pupils. Outcomes for pupils across 
the academy are now good. In 2017, attainment and progress at GCSE were 
above the national average. Pupils who have special educational needs 
and/or disabilities are well supported, as are pupils who speak English as an 
additional language. As a result, they are making good progress. 
Disadvantaged pupils are also making good progress and achieving well 
because teaching is being targeted more effectively to support their learning 

 

School building development  
 

3.3 Bridge Academy Development - The appointment of a contractor is expected 
to be considered by Cabinet in March 2018, with a view to work being 
concluded in 2019. Currently a number of Key Stage 4 Bridge pupils are being 
educated at the Latimer Alternative Provision Academy in RBKC. VAT 
discussions are ongoing. 

 
Local Area SEND Inspection  
 

3.4 What is the Local Area SEND Inspection Framework? 
 

The new framework to inspect the effectiveness of local areas in fulfilling their 
new duties in the ‘Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 
to 25 years’ (the Code of Practice) came into force in September 2014. 
The Code places responsibility on the local area to identify and meet the 
needs of children and young people who have special educational needs 
and/or disabilities (SEND) aged 0 to 25.  
The first local area inspections took place in May 2016 with the aim of 
developing and delivering a programme of 152 local area inspections over 
approximately a five-year period. 
 
Local Area SEND Inspections: one year on can be found at; 
www.gov.uk/government/organsiations/ofsted 
 
The framework looks the local area’s effectiveness in three main aspects:  

 identifying children and young people’s SEND 

 meeting the needs of children and young people who have SEND 

 improving outcomes for children and young people who have SEND 
 
Inspectors assess how well local areas are preparing these children and 
young people to live as independently as possible and, where possible, 
secure meaningful employment as they move into their adult lives. In 
particular, inspectors evaluate how well the implementation of the Code leads 
to improvements in:  

 identification of SEND 

 providing for and meeting needs 

Page 9

http://www.gov.uk/government/organsiations/ofsted


 outcomes for children and young people who have SEND 
 

Ofsted publishes an outcomes letter to the local area leaders after inspection, 
which gives the main findings from the inspection. It sets out the local area’s 
strengths and what it needs to develop against the three main aspects in the 
inspection framework. Ofsted and CQC use these inspections to challenge 
poor practice and deal with any non-compliance with the Code.  
 

3.5 Main Findings of SEND Inspections: one year on: 

 Implementation remains too varied 

 SEND Support pupils experiences are particularly varied 

 SEND exclusions, absenteeism or missing from school is too high 

 Use of illegal exclusion, alternative provision, off rolling etc for pupils 
who have SEND 

 Poor implementation of a coordinated 0-25 service (post 19) 

 Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) is too difficult to 
access 

 Too much variability in the effectiveness of the statutory assessment 
process 

 Access to therapy services is poor 

 Parental dissatisfaction is a significant challenge 

 Parents lack confidence in the ability of mainstream schools to meet 
their child’s needs 

 Local offers are not effective 

 The use of personal budgets is too varied 
 

3.6 Some strengths  

 Strong partnerships in health, education, and care 

 Strong practice in identifying and meeting needs in the early years 

 Effective evaluation about how the local are works cohesively with 
different leadership teams for joint-commissioning 

 Use of evidence from a wide range of sources 
 

3.7 What is the Local Area SEND Self Evaluation Framework (SEF)? 
The SEND SEF is a tool for gathering information prior to the Local Area 
SEND Inspection on the local areas effectiveness in identifying and meeting 
the needs of disabled children and young people with SEND. 
In Hammersmith & Fulham we have completed our SEF and have recognised 
there is work to develop and improve it further. 
 

3.8 What the SEF tells us so far; 
 
Strengths  

 We believe SEND Service re-design and move to implementation of the 
new operating model will really strengthen key areas of SEND Service 
delivery.  

 In Hammersmith and Fulham 83% of pupils with an SEN are supported 
within a mainstream school setting  

Page 10



 There is an established Designated Clinical Officer within the current tri-
borough arrangement who provides the interface with health and joint 
commissioning arrangements 

 Parents/carers are becoming more involved in the design and delivery of 
SEND Services, such as out active parent carer forums  

 Improving completion of EHC plans within timescales 89% (checking 
with DM) 

 We are launching a new Resource Centre in March 2018 to strengthen 
the targeted offer of support and disabled children’s short break 
provision   

 We are committed to investing in SEND early identification and early 
help and though the SEND service re-design we will improving our Early 
Help Offer  

 There will be a dedicated Preparing for Adulthood (P4A) Team to 
support a seamless transition from Children’s to Adults Services and 
strengthen the pathways to sustained employment  

 We are committed to investing in improving school standards; through 
developing the expertise of schools staff and encouraging inclusive 
practice in our schools and colleges. 

 
Areas for development  

 Working on improving some of our EHC processes in terms of quality 
and timeliness 

 We need to increase the ‘personalisation’ of individual service packages 
though offering more personal budgets 

 We want to further develop the content and accessibility of the Local 
Offer 

 We want to strengthen co-production, in particular, ensuring young 
people involved in planning and delivering services 

 Our emerging SEND Strategy with six key priority action themes gives us 
a framework for ensuring the development and delivery of quality SEND 
Services 

 
 
4. FAMILY SERVICES  
 
 Update on Children’s Social Care Effectiveness Programme 
 
4.1 There are a number of initiatives and pilot projects underway, supported by 

invest to save funding, that are showing early signs of improving outcomes 
alongside preventing unnecessary escalation of need and cost.  These are 
highlighted below. 

 
4.2 Family Assist works with adolescents at the edge of care. The team are 

currently engaged with 20+ young people who it is deemed would otherwise 
have required reception into care, and sustaining them through intensive 
support within their families and communities. This is avoiding an estimated 
spend of £311k in placement costs to date, meeting savings targets pro-rata 

Page 11



of 116% in 17/18. In addition rates of becoming looked after for this cohort is 
reduced in comparative before and after periods.  

 
4.3 The LAC Assist team work intensively with children and young people already 

in care, and target those young people where there are opportunities to step 
them down from costly placements e.g. residential to foster care and 
rehabilitate home where it is safe to do so, or stabilise existing placements to 
prevent higher tariff care. The team is currently working with 22 children and 
their input has resulted in a combination of cost reduction and cost avoidance 
totalling £254k as at the end of September 2017. Work around developing an 
enhanced foster care service in the borough, will further improve options for 
some of our most challenging young people who might require costly 
residential provision otherwise.  

 
4.4 Parenting Assist is a 12-month pilot similar to Family Assist, but focussing on 

children under the age of 12, with specific and concerted parenting 
interventions, to help maintain children safely at home where they may have 
otherwise been in care. This project only began in November 2017, and will 
measured formerly at the end of March 2018 onwards to assess impact.  

 
4.5 The Front door approach is a new way of working at the point of referral into 

Children’s Social Care introduced at the end of November 2017. It is a proven 
method adopted successfully by a number of highly rated Local Authorities 
(e.g. Leeds, North Lincolnshire), of safely reducing demand on specialist 
services. This is achieved by offering a dedicated direct line for professionals 
into a team of specially trained and experienced Social Workers who 
undertake initial collaborative professional conversations and consultations 
into any concerns raised about a child. This approach, determines who is best 
placed to meet the needs of a child, rather than via written referrals. It has 
been shown to reduce the numbers of unnecessary assessments undertaken 
by Social Workers by between 30-40%, and early indications are that this is 
being achieved in Hammersmith and Fulham in the first 6-8 weeks of 
operation.  

 
Professor David Thorpe, an industry lead in this area, was commissioned to 
undertake research into local practice, and provide specialist training to a 
newly configured front door service – the Initial Consultation and Advice Team 
(ICAT). Communication and engagement with partners has led to very 
positive feedback to date, as the emphasis shifts from a transactional to a 
relationship based process. Social Workers and their managers report 
improved experience as they are able to focus on quality rather than quantity 
of work with those children at most risk of harm.   

 
There will be a full evaluation at the 6-month point May 2018, and plans are in 
train to co-locate the new Family Support Service (FSS) front door and have 
an increasing partner presence in ICAT (e.g. police) in due course. Shared 
MASH services will remain unchanged.  

 
4.6 The Specialist Adolescent Service is an integrated multi-agency service being 

planned to work with the highest need and most at risk young people at the 

Page 12



edge of care, school exclusion and entry into the criminal justice system. 
Where traditional models of social care intervention are not working and 
improving outcomes for these cases, this more coordinated offer will provide 
50+ adolescents in the borough with an intensive relationship based approach 
of a single continuous keyworker, who in turn will be supported by a 
multidisciplinary team around them. This will be supplemented by offering 
short break alternatives to care with the concurrent development of an 
enhanced foster care service, and restorative practice which works with the 
whole family, through Family Group Conferencing as entitlement.  

 
The service will be formed from realigning the existing Family Assist resource, 
as elements are disaggregated to the new FSS, with additional Social Work, 
YOT, Police, CAMHS, and Ed Psych practitioners, co-located at a suitable 
community site currently being identified. An initial 12-month pilot phase from 
April/May 2018, will measure impact and provide opportunities to develop the 
model further.  

 
4.7 Practice Assistants pilot posts, have been working directly with Social 

Workers and their managers since April 2017 in 6 frontline case holding teams 
undertaking case related administrative tasks. This model of working has on 
average tripled the amount of time practitioners spend with families. This is 
releasing time for practice and has measurably boosted morale and 
satisfaction amongst teams who’ve completed quarterly surveys. It is also 
improving the quality and timeliness of interventions. It is anticipated that this 
will increase the permanency and stability of the workforce where there have 
been challenges with reliance on agency staff in particular areas of the 
service.  

 
A review of all administrative support to Social Work Teams has been 
undertaken, with a view to mainstreaming this approach across the service 
post March 2018, and a staffing proposal is being prepared for a new 
structure from April 2018. 

 
4.8 Maintenance for Life is a small-scale initiative started in Jan 2018 for 12 

months. Cases that are recently closed to social care and early help, but have 
a history which may indicate a high risk of re-referral, are provided with an 
aftercare top-up service via a Family Resilience Practitioner in order to sustain 
change and prevent repeat referrals and escalation back into specialist 
services. Impact measures have been agreed for quarterly reporting from April 
2018 onwards. 

 
Vulnerable child refugee stranded in Greece 

4.9 In December 2017 Hammersmith and Fulham children services took on the 
care of a vulnerable unaccompanied asylum-seeking child who had been 
stranded in Greece for over a year and qualified for sanctuary in the UK under 
the Dubs amendment.  

4.10 The Dubs amendment, part of the 2016 Immigration Act, was passed after a 
campaign to transfer 3,000 unaccompanied child refugees stuck in camps to 

Page 13



Britain. Hammersmith and Fulham have now looked after 14 Dubs children 
who arrived in the UK from Calais and Greece.  

4.11 The child’s journey to the UK and our care had been a long and challenging 
one, and he was the first child to be transferred from Greece to the UK. The 
council became aware of this child’s journey from an organisation called Safe 
Passage who help unaccompanied child refugees and vulnerable adults find 
safe, legal routes to sanctuary. They became aware of a child in Greece 
November 2016 due to his exceptional situation and circumstances, which 
included him being in police custody as a care environment. A social worker 
from Hammersmith and Fulham who speaks Greek and has a specialism in 
mental health travelled to Greece to complete an assessment on behalf of 
Safe Passage. This assessment was used to inform part of the legal 
challenge by his solicitor to enable him to travel to the UK under the Dubs 
amendment.  

4.12 Prior to his arrival children services commissioned a bespoke placement and 
we are working as part of a multi-disciplinary team to ensure that we can 
assess his longer- term needs and support him during this time of transition 
and plan for his future. 

4.13 Since arriving in the UK he has settled in well and is accessing community 
based resources and is being supported with the transition to London and UK 
life. He has also met with Lord Dubs who shared his own experiences of 
arriving in the UK as a child. 

 
 The female genital mutilation (FGM) service and its delivery partner – 

Midaye receive a nOSCAR award.  
 
4.14 The Shared Services Female Genital Mutilation(FGM) service and its delivery 

partner Somali Development Network Midaye won the nOSCAR Wellbeing 
Award at a ceremony on 13th November. The team received the award for 
their work with women affected by FGM.   
 

4.15 The nOscars Awards highlight programmes, people and organisations making 
a difference in Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities in ensuring 
they have access to vital sexual health services and treatment.  
 

4.16 The Midaye team of Community Health Advocates together with the FGM 
Specialist Lead (Social Worker) and FGM Specialist Midwife support pregnant 
women affected by FGM at Chelsea and Westminster hospital in London.  
 

4.17 Arabic and Somali speaking members of the Midaye team provide emotional 
and practical support, playing a vital role in breaking down barriers between 
women, their families, and statutory support services.  The team also facilitate 
a number of outreach community engagement events which are vital in 
safeguarding girls from FGM.   
 

4.18 This collaborative model focuses on improving women’s experiences of 
maternity and social care services by providing a safe and trusting health and 

Page 14



social care offer. We would like to congratulate them on their award and the 
excellent work tackling inequalities and working with isolated communities. 

 
5. COMMISSIONING 
 

 

 
5.1 From October 2016 to May 2017, Hammersmith and Fulham, Westminster 

and Kensington and Chelsea worked with supplier FutureGov and undertook 
a wide spanning FamilyStory Discovery project to reconceive case 
management in Children’s Services from first principles 

 
5.2 The aim of the FamilyStory project is to place children and families at the 

centre of their case or ‘story’ to build a network of people, carers, caseworks 
and service providers around them. It is exploring how technology for social 
care can be radically redesigned to better meet the needs of families, young 
people and practitioners.  

 
5.3 Phase two of the FamilyStory project involves a 12 month engagement 

process to change the front-end user experience by developing appropriate 
task tools to increase productivity, efficiency and better use of data for 
practitioners. In addition transparency for families through smarter application 
of new integrated digital tools. A detailed report is due to be submitted to 
Cabinet on 5th March 2018 to seek approval for the phase two proposals. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None. 

 

 FutureGov FamilyStory 

Page 15



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
29 January 2018 

 

 

A DRAFT CONSULTATIVE REPORT ON H&F COUNCIL’S EMERGENCY 
RESPONSE TO MAJOR INCIDENTS IN JUNE AND SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

Report of the Chief Executive, Kim Dero 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation: 
The author of the report has consulted extensively with H&F council officers from 
across departments who were involved in H&Fs immediate and ongoing responses 
to the Grenfell Tower fire and the Parsons Green terrorist incident. 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Sarah Thomas, Director of Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: 
Peter Smith, Head of Policy & Strategy 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2206 
peter.smith@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. In 2017 there were two major incidents in and around Hammersmith & 

Fulham that required the authority to implement its emergency planning 
procedures. These were the fire at Grenfell Tower in North Kensington in 
June and an explosion on a tube train in Parsons Green tube station in 
September. 

 
1.2. This report reviews the H&F response to those incidents through the 

experiences of H&F officers involved in the response to Grenfell and Parsons 
Green at both strategic and operational levels. The review has also 
considered the views of local businesses and community organisations that 
participated in a ‘hackathon’ event convened by the council to examine the 
views of partners. 
 

1.3. The report identifies action taken to date to improve the council’s readiness 
and response to major incidents and makes recommendations for additional 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6

mailto:peter.smith@lbhf.gov.uk


action to further improve this response. This report was submitted to Audit, 
Pensions and Standards Committee and Finance and Delivery PAC in 
December and to Economic Regeneration, Housing and the Arts PAC on 16 
January and is being submitted to all remaining PACs before going to Cabinet 
in March. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. The Committee is invited to discuss the findings and recommendations of the 
report and, should it see fit, make suggestions, including on implementing the 
recommendations, for the Council to consider in its response. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. H&F Council has a duty of care to all of its residents and must ensure that it 
has appropriate plans and processes in place to deliver on that duty. 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. The Committee is requested to consider and discuss the report’s 
recommendations, and to refer its comments on to Cabinet. 

 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
5.1. The research that has informed the recommendations within the report has 

involved interviews with a variety of different officers, during which various 
options for improving planning and procedures have been examined and 
analysed. 

 
6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1. The author of the report has been engaged in consultation with council 

officers and has examined feedback and proposals from an event that 
gathered the views of businesses and community organisations. 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. The implementation of these recommendations will have no direct equality 
implications.  
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. The Civil Contingencies Act provides a framework for Civil Protection in the 
UK. The Council is classified as category one. The “report” at appendix one 
sets out at paragraph 1.9 the full set of civil protection duties the Council has. 
The “report” makes a number of recommendations for action in relation to the 
Local Authority’s response to future emergencies. The legal team can be 
further consulted about the implementation of any of the recommendations, if 
the Council wishes to implement these. 
 

Page 17



8.2 Implications completed by: Hazel Best, Principal Lawyer, tel. 020 7641 2955 
 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1. The Government’s Bellwin scheme provides emergency financial assistance 
to local authorities in England and is activated at the discretion of the 
Secretary of State. Bellwin funding is designed to cover uninsurable risk over 
a local threshold. It will recompense authorities for the costs of emergency 
measures undertaken to safeguard life or property, or to prevent further 
suffering and inconvenience locally, during exceptional circumstances. There 
are strict rules on the types of expenditure that are eligible for reimbursement. 
In relation to the Grenfell fire incident, RBKC will be making a claim under the 
Bellwin scheme which will include the additional costs incurred by 
Hammersmith and Fulham in providing mutual aid.  
 

9.2. In response to the wider lessons learned from the Grenfell Tower fire and 
Parsons Green incidents, on 4 September 2017, Cabinet approved a 
drawdown of £111,000 from the Community Safety Reserve to increase the 
resilience of the Emergency Planning Team for 18 months. 
 

9.3. On 18 October 2017, Full Council approved amendments to the Four-Year 
Capital Programme 2017-21 to include £20m for the Fire Safety Plus 
Programme. Whilst the Department for Communities and Local Government 
has requested details of fire safety works from councils, no additional funding 
has been made available to date. Until further clarity on funding has been 
received, the programme will be funded from a combination of the use of 
reserves and internal borrowing. The detailed financial implications of the Fire 
Safety Plus Programme are included in the Full Council report. 
 

9.4. Taking forward the recommendations for further actions identified in this 
report, will be subject to further decisions, the financial implications of which 
will be confirmed at that time.  
 

9.5. Implications completed by: Emily Hill, Head of Corporate Finance, 020 8753 
3145. 

 
 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Notes from the hackathon on 
emergency planning 
 

Peter Smith (EXT: 2206) Delivery and 
Value / HTH 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: A Draft Report on H&F Council’s Emergency Response to Major 
Incidents in June and September 2017 

Page 18



1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

A draft consultative report on H&F 
Council’s Emergency Response to 

Major Incidents in June and 
September 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 2018  

Page 19



2 
 

Contents 

           Page 

1. Introduction          03 
 

2. Command and Control        06 

3. Communications         09 

4. Emergency Planning        12 

5. Housing          16 

6. Welfare          19 

7. Donations Management        21 

8. Training          23 

9. Partnership Work with Communities, Local Agencies & Businesses 24 

10. Regional and National Implications      25 

 
 
Appendix 1: Maps of Grenfell Tower and Parsons Green   28 

Appendix 2: Emergency Planning requirements     30 

Appendix 3: H&F Service Resilience Group     32 

Appendix 4: H&F Fire Safety Plus booklet     33 
  

Page 20



3 
 

1. Introduction 

 

Purpose of the report 

 

1.1 During 2017 London and the UK were affected by a range of major incidents 

including: 

 the terrorist attack on Westminster Bridge in March; 

 the Manchester Arena terrorist attack in May; 

 the terrorist attack at Borough Market/London Bridge in early June; 

 the Grenfell Tower Fire in mid June; 

 the terrorist attack near Finsbury Park Mosque in June; 

 the evacuation of residents from four tower blocks in Camden following 

fire safety testing in late June; 

 the terrorist attack on a tube train at Parsons Green in September. 

 

1.2 Two of these incidents required Hammersmith and Fulham (H&F) council to 

implement its emergency planning procedures.  They were the fire at Grenfell 

Tower in North Kensington in June and the explosion on a tube train at 

Parsons Green station in September.   

 

1.3 The purpose of this report is to present findings of a review that has examined 

H&F’s experiences in implementing its emergency planning procedures, to 

determine the effectiveness of our response and any areas for improvement 

in the future.  The report is draft for consultation with the Audit, Pension and 

Standards Committee and five Policy and Accountability Committees (PACs).  

Following consideration of the discussion and feedback at these forums, the 

findings of the review and consultative process will be presented to Cabinet in 

March 2018.   

 

1.4 This version of the report has been fully updated following the discussions at 

the Audit, Pension and Standards Committee and Finance and Delivery PAC 

in December 2017 and the Economic Regeneration, Housing and the Arts 

PAC on 16 January 2018, adopting comments and additional 

recommendations made at those forums as well as tightening expressions 

and meaning following feedback.  The report may be further amended 

following consultation with the other PACs over the course of January 2018.   

 

Summary of the major incidents 

 

1.5 The Grenfell Tower fire, which began in the early hours of Wednesday 14 

June 2017, was one of the worst disasters in London and the UK in living 

Page 21



4 
 

memory1.  The impact of the disaster has reverberated far and wide.  A public 

inquiry is currently under way and criminal proceedings may follow, so this 

review is not intended to influence or undermine the due legal process of that 

inquiry and those proceedings.  With this in mind, the review purposefully 

does not comment on the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea’s 

(RBKC) response or affairs. 

 

1.6 The Grenfell Tower Inquiry will cover issues relating to the response in the 

aftermath of the fire and is set to review: 

(a) What policies, procedures and plans were in place on the part of 

central and local government for dealing with a major emergency such 

as the Grenfell Tower fire? 

(b) What was the response of the Tenant Management Organisation, 

central and local government by way of the provision of emergency 

relief in the days immediately following the fire? 

(c) Was the response adequate and, if not, in what respects was it 

inadequate? 

 

1.7 H&F borough has been significantly affected by the fire, with the council, 

councillors, council staff and local residents, community organisations and 

businesses all contributing to the efforts to provide relief to the many 

hundreds of people directly affected.   

 

1.8 In addition, at 8:35am on Friday 15 September 2017, an improvised explosive 

device was detonated on a tube at Parsons Green tube station2.  H&F Council 

was the authority with responsibility for the response to that incident.  The 

Parsons Green incident can not be compared in scale to the Grenfell Tower 

fire, in terms of the human tragedy and the duration of the impact on so many 

displaced families.  However, like Grenfell, it was an incident that required an 

emergency plan to be implemented and for people to be evacuated from the 

area as a police cordon was put in place.  It also attracted huge international 

media interest.   

 

1.9 As a local authority, H&F council is classed as a Category 1 responder under 

the terms of the Civil Contingencies Act 20043.  This means that the Council is 

subject to the full set of civil protection duties and is required to: 

 assess the risk of emergencies occurring and use this to inform 

contingency planning; 

 put in place emergency plans; 

                                                           
1
 See Appendix 1 for a map of the Grenfell Tower local area 

2
 See Appendix 1 for map of the Parsons Green local area 

3
 See Appendix 2 

Page 22



5 
 

 put in place business continuity management arrangements; 

 put in place arrangements to make information available to the public 

about civil protection matters and maintain arrangements to warn, inform 

and advise the public in the event of an emergency; 

 share information with other local responders to enhance co-ordination; 

 co-operate with other local responders to enhance co-ordination and 

efficiency; 

 provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary 

organisations about business continuity management. 

 

1.10 The review process consisted of a series of interviews with H&F staff who 

played major roles in the Council’s response to the Grenfell fire and its 

aftermath and to the Parsons Green terrorist incident, along with a 

‘hackathon’4 style event to gather the views of businesses, local agencies and 

community organisations that also played a role in the relief efforts, especially 

that at Grenfell.  This review is focussed on the lessons to be learned for H&F 

Council so it did not extend to interviews with RBKC staff nor to RBKC 

stakeholders.  To do so might have compromised the process of the public 

inquiry. 

 

1.11 This report is a follow up to the immediate H&F Emergency Planning Lessons 

Learned Report, which was presented to the Finance and Delivery PAC on 6th 

September 2017.  At that meeting the Committee recommended that a 

second report be provided to a subsequent meeting addressing: communities, 

hotel work, reassurance, community resilience and housing in relation to 

emergency planning, and that officers provide further information on when 

local emergencies escalate to national emergencies. 

 
1.12 The Grenfell Tower fire occurred across the H&F borough boundary in RBKC 

so the primary local authority with responsibility for delivering its civic 

protection duties was RBKC.  Hence, that council’s role, along with that of the 

Kensington and Chelsea Tenant Management Organisation is the central 

focus of the public inquiry.  However, given the scale of the disaster and the 

proximity of H&F to North Kensington, the Leader of H&F Council asked the 

Chief Executive to offer immediate and compassionate support.  This report 

examines the nature of that support, what worked well, what lessons have 

already been learned and what can be further improved for the future. 

 

                                                           
4
 A hackathon is an event consisting of focussed sessions with key stakeholders to consider complex problems 

in the pursuit of solutions 

Page 23



6 
 

1.13 The report is structured around a number of thematic sections relating to 

different aspects of the council’s implementation of its emergency planning 

procedures following both major incidents.   

 

 

2. Command and Control 

 

First 24 hours 

 

2.1 The Grenfell Tower fire took hold in the early hours of Wednesday 14 June.  

The Chief Executive of H&F Council immediately established a Service 

Resilience Group (SRG) to plan and oversee the Council’s response to the 

fire and its aftermath.  The group was chaired by the Chief Executive and 

brought together senior officers at daily meetings for a period of two weeks.   

 

2.2 In the first 24 hours, H&F was requested to send rest centre managers to 

three centres at Westway sports centre, Portobello and St Clements Church 

at about 11am on the Wednesday morning.  The H&F emergency response 

team also provided assistance.   

 

2.3 As the Parsons Green incident happened in H&F borough a Borough 

Emergency Command Centre (BECC) was established within ten minutes 

which led the H&F council emergency response.  

 

2.4 The Grenfell Tower fire and the Parsons Green terrorist incident have raised 

interest, at all levels across the council, in H&F’s emergency planning 

procedures and the command and control structure within it.  There is now a 

much broader understanding of this structure as officers from across the 

authority have seen it in action.  It is intended that this wider understanding 

will be maintained via broader communication networks and expanded 

training (see section 8).   

 

2.5 Directors involved in the SRG for the Grenfell response confirmed that the 

H&F command and control structure was clear to them.  However, those who 

were not part of the daily briefings (Children’s Services and Adult Social Care) 

were less clear about the distinction between the H&F sovereign response 

and the response under the “tri-borough” shared services arrangements (i.e. 

RBKC, Westminster City Council and H&F).  Some of the shared services 

officers interviewed as part of this review said the shared service 

arrangements with RBKC may have blurred the distinction between RBKC 

and H&F officer resources on the ground, where care workers and volunteers 

were operating.  In turn, this created some confusion about how H&F 

resources were being allocated.  The structure of any future SRG for an 

Page 24



7 
 

incident of the scale and scope of Grenfell needs to include senior 

representation from all directorates.  Additionally, it will be important that the 

work underway to disaggregate children’s, adults and public health shared 

services arrangements considers H&F’s sovereign capacity to respond to a 

major incident, including capacity to aid other boroughs in emergencies.  

 

2.6 At Parson’s Green, the council’s command and control structure and 

management of a robust operation was commended by London’s Local 

Authority Gold, the Metropolitan Police and London Fire Brigade (LFB).   

 

First few days 

 

2.7 On 17 June 2017, the Chief Executive appointed senior officers to set up two 

task groups in response to the Grenfell Tower fire – one to co-ordinate the 

provision of temporary accommodation and support for displaced Grenfell 

residents (the H&F Grenfell Outreach task force) and the other to address the 

concerns of H&F residents in tower blocks within the borough (the H&F 

Tenants’ Reassurance task force).   

 

2.8 The officers appointed to run these teams were clear as to their briefs and 

were given the necessary delegated authority to draw in other officers from 

across departments.  One of the task group managers noted that it had been 

helpful that the role and authority of the task force has been set out in writing 

and circulated to all those who needed to know of it.  He noted the value of 

the task force being a joined-up operation working across council services 

with named leads. 

 

2.9 Some of those drawn in to manage the situation on the ground in the days 

following the Grenfell disaster (i.e. those dealing with donation management), 

were less aware of the command and control structures.  This reflects the fact 

that a large number of volunteers had to be drafted in at short notice with 

limited previous training in emergency planning or knowledge of the borough’s 

Emergency Management Plan.  The extent to which officers working on the 

donations response needed to be briefed on the wider emergency response 

is, however, questionable.  Indeed, as donations on the scale received were 

unprecedented, donation management presented new leadership and skills 

challenges (see section 7). 

 

2.10 The experience suggests that the shared service arrangements had not 

foreseen the complexity of an incident such as the Grenfell disaster.  Each 

borough in the “tri-borough” arrangement had its own sovereign BECC.  For 

Grenfell, this caused confusion in the H&F command and control structure 

when H&F staff were allocated to support the emergency planning response 

Page 25



8 
 

as part of the shared services arrangements rather than through the H&F 

BECC or H&F command and control structure.   

 

  

Page 26



9 
 

Week by week 

 

2.10 The H&F Emergency Planning team compiles and circulates, to selected 

senior officers and those on emergency response rotas, a weekly rota known 

as ‘Weekly Orders’.  This sets out which officers are responsible for different 

levels of command and control in the event of an emergency incident.  

 

2.11 Following the experiences of 2017, challenges have been identified in how 

H&F council can effectively monitor operational activity and staff capacity and 

coordinate responses in shared service areas, which may be responding to 

dual reporting structures at the point of an emergency.  The Moving On 

programme, to disaggregate key “tri-borough” shared services, will address 

this issue for the future, in some part.  

 

Actions taken 

 

 The circulation of the Weekly Orders has been expanded. 

 

 The Chief Executive advised the Strategic Leadership Team to be on high 

alert and confirm capacity, resources and accuracy of communication 

channels in case of any further major incident over the summer months. This 

was agreed for July – September as L.B. Camden had evacuated four tower 

blocks due to safety concerns which, together with Grenfell residents and 

summer tourism, had reduced hotel availability locally.  

 

Recommendations for further action: 

 

 The circulation list for the Weekly Orders should be subject to a regular 

review, co-ordinated by the Chief Executive’s office and Human Resources, to 

ensure that all officers who may need to respond to an emergency are 

included in its circulation. 

 

 In the event of a disaster of the magnitude of the Grenfell fire there may be a 

need for a two-tier daily planning briefing – strategic and operational. 

 

 That the expectations from membership of a Service Resilience Group be 

clearly set out and communicated to attendees and relevant Directors/Heads 

of Service. 

 

 That the command and control and briefing arrangements should be built into 
emergency planning training and exercising. 
 

 Accurate records of staff deployed should be kept from the start of a 
response. 

Page 27



10 
 

 

 Continued shared services and any new partnerships or shared arrangements 
should be clear about ‘first call’ arrangements of H&F and H&F services to 
limit competing calls and under capacity at critical times of an emergency. 
 

 

3. Communications 

 

Internal/operational 

 

3.1 The Emergency Communications Plan is updated regularly, in liaison with the 

Emergency Planning team.  During both the Grenfell fire and Parsons Green 

incidents, the Communications division’s liaison with the Emergency Planning 

team was via the Local Authority Liaison Officer (LALO) and the Borough 

Emergency Command Centre (BECC).  Officers interviewed as part of this 

review advised that these internal communications worked well.   

 

3.2 Outside of this, responsible H&F Directors managed the operational 

communications on a day-to-day basis, following the daily briefings given by 

the Chief Executive at the SRG.  Communications with other staff was via the 

web, intranet and from those on the ground.   

 

3.3 Intelligence on the Grenfell fire evacuees placed in H&F hotels was initially 

received anecdotally when West Kensington Tenants’ and Residents’ 

Association alerted the Leader of the Council that evacuees had been placed 

in a Fulham hotel and seemed confused and unsupported.  This led H&F to 

respond immediately with emergency welfare assistance and small cash 

subsistence offers and led to the establishment of the H&F Grenfell Outreach 

team on Saturday 17th June.   

 

3.4 In the absence of other information, H&F officers approached hotel managers 

across the borough directly to obtain details on whether any evacuees had 

been placed in their hotels.  The media were keen to hear evacuees’ stories 

so there were trust issues to overcome in winning the confidence of hotel 

managers and support them to protect the privacy of evacuees and those who 

had been evacuated from the surrounding are . 

 

3.5 The limited information on who had been placed in which H&F hotels might 

have been partly overcome had there been an agreed protocol of information 

exchange between H&F Council and local hoteliers.  This suggestion 

emerged from both the interviews with officers and from discussions with a 

hotel manager at the community hackathon event.  The Council should 

consider future arrangements and establish a shared protocol with hoteliers in 

Page 28



11 
 

the borough.  It may be possible to agree a system of instant messaging of all 

hotels in the borough seeking offers of assistance in similar emergencies. 

 

3.6 Communication with hotel staff during the Grenfell relief effort was mainly via 

leaflets, through face-to-face or telephone contact with the H&F Grenfell 

Outreach Task Force.  A newsletter was produced for hotel residents telling 

them what support and services were available to them. 

 

External/ public communications 

 

3.7 After the Grenfell fire, the first external communication reassuring council 

residents in high rise blocks in the borough was sent on Thursday 15th June, 

the day after the fire.  The H&F Tenants’ Reassurance Task Force was 

formalised on Saturday 17th June.  Advice sessions were held at the 

Charecroft estate on the 16th and 23rd June.  Advice sessions were also 

organised on the Edward Woods Estate from Sunday 18th June.  There were 

daily sessions at this estate which were well attended, with officers taking 

questions on fire safety issues.  Information on safety and risk assessments, 

reassuring residents that H&F council tower blocks did not have the same 

cladding as at Grenfell and informing residents on processes underway to 

assess high-rise properties, were provided quickly via a wide range of 

communications channels. 

 

3.8 A meeting took place with Tenants’ and Residents’ Association (TRA) Chairs, 

the London Fire Brigade and council representatives in the following week to 

the Grenfell fire.  There were then public meetings with Edward Woods and 

Charecroft estate residents.  The Leader of the Council attended the 

meetings, as did ward councillors and the Cabinet Member for Housing. 

 

3.9 Some residents felt that there should have been visits to all of the TRAs.  

However, this would have stretched the small core group of officers, as they 

needed to be present at those meetings to answer the range of questions that 

residents were posing.  The LFB offered to attend any TRA meetings on 

request.  The Chief Executive had already held a meeting with the Borough 

Fire Commander early in her induction in June 2017 to ensure that good 

working relationships were formed with key partners.  There was a Q&A 

document published on the H&F website which was regularly updated.  It was 

noted that, on reflection, the circulation of Q&As to other TRAs not visited 

would have been helpful.   

 

3.10 The Grenfell disaster is probably the first incident of that scale to occur in the 

UK in an age where social media plays such an important role in 

communications and in shaping the public response.  Social media proved 

invaluable in feeding on-the-ground reports from local people into the council’s 

Page 29



12 
 

emergency response. The council’s communications team maintained a 

round-the-clock social media operation throughout both incidents. There is a 

clear need for an effective social media strategy, given the increasing role it 

plays in emergency incidents and to get clear, coherent messaging out as 

widely as possible – through as many channels as possible.  To assist, it is 

recommended that a pre-prepared, updated banner message is placed on the 

front page of the H&F council website in the event of another major incident. 

 

3.11 External communication was also undertaken to promote the H&F Fire Safety 

Plus programme.  This was launched following the Grenfell fire, and includes 

an extensive package of fire prevention measures and fire safety messages. 

A booklet on this package was sent to all high-rise residents of council 

properties first and then to all H&F council residents and made available on 

the council’s website. (see section 5) 

 

3.12 In relation to external communications at Parsons Green, it was suggested 

that more information was needed for those people unable to return to their 

homes because of the police cordon established.  However, the bomb was not 

made safe until 5pm so it was difficult for the police to give early information 

as to when people might be able to return home.  

 

3.13 Overall, this review has found that there was a joined-up approach to dealing 

with the media during both major incidents. H&F communications officers 

worked long hours to deal with media enquiries which were directly Grenfell-

related, as well as general tower block fire safety enquiries.  The main 

communications difficulty arising from the Grenfell fire was the Council’s 

capacity to answer large volumes of wide-ranging and detailed questions from 

the media, government and the public about all aspects of fire safety in 

council properties. At a time when resources were stretched in dealing directly 

with the incident on the ground, capacity to meet information demand was 

also stretched. This is an area that all services should consider in their 

emergency planning. 

 

Recommendations for action 

 

 All services should receive guidance on how to manage large-scale 

information demand in their emergency plans. 

 

 A social media strategy, including the use of the Next Door platform, should 

be prepared for an emergency incident communications response. 

 

 Alternative arrangements should be identified for communicating with 
residents to enable communications to continue if one or more of the mobile 
phone system, internet or the council website failed during an incident. 

Page 30



13 
 

 

 Single Points of Contact (SPOC) should be identified to deal with different 
types of communication enquiries in an emergency (e.g. media enquiries, 
requests from the emergency services, central government etc). This should 
be built into procedures, training and exercising. 
 

 Member briefings and training must make it clear who to contact in the event 
of an emergency so councillors can give information and feedback from the 
ground. 
 

 All staff should be informed of the emergency contact number. 
 

 A pre-prepared update banner message should be put on the front page of 
the H&F council website in the event of an incident. 
 

 

4. Emergency planning 

 

4.1 The emergency planning procedures in H&F are quite clear.  This is set out in 

the figure below.  In this structure, Gold is the strategic lead, the Chief 

Executive holds this role and was Gold at the time of both incidents; Silver is 

the tactical lead (a trained council officer); and Bronze are the operational 

leads (these are trained council officers, including a Welfare Bronze). 

 

 
 

4.2 If an emergency requires an evacuation, a Welfare Bronze is appointed 

(historically from Adult Social Care) to identify any premises within the cordon 

that include vulnerable persons or people with particular needs.  An LFB 

Page 31



14 
 

trained LALO will also be deployed to a rendezvous point.  The LALO attends 

all Silver meetings and reports back to the Duty Silver on what is required.  

The LALO then passes the information to the police, fire service and any other 

authorities providing emergency services. 

 

4.3 This review has found that the emergency planning responses from H&F to 

the Grenfell Tower fire and Parsons Green incident implemented 

organisational plans and provided appropriate assistance to those affected.  

Whilst H&F has the necessary capacity to respond to a large scale emergency 

within the borough, it is likely to require additional resources (e.g. via mutual 

aid) to relieve an emergency support team over time.   

 

4.4 Training is being expanded to increase the capacity of the authority to cope 

with an incident of the scale of the Grenfell fire in H&F.  As identified 

elsewhere in this report, there needs to be a wider general understanding of 

key aspects of H&F’s emergency management plan, through wider 

communications with staff, councillors and partners, as well as a specific need 

for a wider pool of trained officers for key emergency response roles.  The 

pool of trained officers needs to be offered periodic refresher training.   

 

4.5 Key insights from H&F officers supporting the Grenfell rest centre highlight the 

need for H&F to put in place pre-agreements with chemists, opticians, dentists 

etc for essential items (e.g. medications, glasses, dentures) for those 

displaced without their everyday items.  Agreements could also be made with 

local foodbanks to offer other essential provisions such as food and toiletries. 

 

Mutual aid 

 

4.6 Under London’s local authority Gold arrangements, any borough can request 

mutual aid when facing an emergency incident and there is a clear and 

agreed process to go through.  A request has to go to the London Resilience 

Group (LRG) and be signed off by London Local Authority Gold (LLAG).   

 

4.7 In the event of an incident requiring multi-agency regional strategic 

coordination, the steps below describe the process for activating the LLAG 

arrangements: 

1. The Metropolitan Police or London Resilience Team (LRT) activate Golds 

from all agencies as required. 

2. London Local Authority Gold is activated by the Metropolitan Police or 

LRT using contact details provided by London Fire Brigade Emergency 

Planning (LFB-EP). 

3. LLAG activates a London Local Authority Coordination Centre (LLACC). 

4. LLAG and Support Team (if there is a Strategic Coordination Centre 

(SCC)) travel to the designated meeting location. 

Page 32



15 
 

5. LLAG and Support Team (if SCC) arrive at designated meeting location 

and are met by the Duty LLACC Manager or LFB-EP SCC Liaison Officer 

(if SCC). 

6. LLAG establishes communications with the LLACC. 

 

4.8  Once mutual aid had been called in for the Grenfell fire, the timing of rotas 

had to be managed as the London Resilience team rotas did not align those 

already set up for H&F staff.  The response from the LRG was to allocate 

qualified social workers from every London local authority to work with the 

evacuees for an initial two-week period.   

 

4.9 A lesson from Grenfell concerns the role of neighbouring boroughs affected by 

a large scale incident, where the emergency response is being led by another 

borough.  Further work is required on how to involve neighbouring boroughs in 

these circumstances as part of London-wide responses.  H&F Council has 

raised this issue with the Local Government Association (LGA), in order that 

the role of ‘bystander’ boroughs is better utilised.  The Local Authority Panel 

(LAP), which acts on behalf of London’s local government, is developing 

service level agreements to provide the commitment to mutual aid at a sub-

regional level and provide London with consistent and effective resilience into 

the future.   

 

Actions taken 

 

 New H&F rest centre equipment has been purchased and is stored at 

Bagley’s Lane depot in Fulham.  There are enough beds and bedding for 145 

people with provisions for a further 80 stored nearby.   

 

 Tow bars have been added to new vehicles to ensure that they can transport 

trailers with bedding quickly to wherever they need to be – there had 

previously been only one vehicle with a tow bar.  Emergency planning 

equipment is also stored in the Courtyard Room storage cupboard in 

Hammersmith Town Hall. 

 

 A review of H&F‘s emergency planning procedures, following the Parsons 

Green incident, has been commissioned from an independent consultant. 

 

 Additional lanyards and high visibility jackets have been purchased and are 

now to be worn by all emergency responders at an incident. 

 

  

Page 33



16 
 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 A review should be undertaken of the best means of registering and storing 

records of people displaced to a rest centre in an emergency incident. 

 

 Consideration should be given to negotiating agreements with chemists, 

opticians, dentists and other local stores and suppliers to secure the 

emergency provision of essentials for any displaced residents in the event of 

a major incident.   

 

 The list of potential premises in H&F for emergency use as rest centres 

should be updated, along with contact details for keyholders and means of 

access. 

 

 Work should be undertaken to identify premises in H&F borough that might be 

used to provide emergency accommodation. 

 

 Emergency Planning should review the corporate emergency planning 

response arrangements, structure and responsibilities in the event of an 

emergency.  

 

 Additional emergency response and planning training should be provided for 

all senior staff and councillors.  

 

 Media training should be provided for councillors. 

 

 Information on emergency planning should be included as part of staff 

induction training. 

 

 High visibility jackets and personalised name badges should be supplied to all 

members of the strategic leadership team. 

 

 An annual Emergency Planning Report should be presented to Cabinet (in 

addition to any other papers required during the year) covering: 

1. Emergency planning progress across the Council 

2. Overview of emergency staffing levels 

3. Overview of training and exercising programmes and up-take. 

 Further work should be undertaken on involving neighbouring boroughs 

affected by a large scale incident including their role as part of London-wide 

responses, in order that the role of ‘bystander’ boroughs is better utilised.   

 

Page 34



17 
 

 It is noted that an independent peer challenge of London’s regional resilience 

procedures has been commissioned by London Councils on behalf of London 

Local Government.  

 

 

5. Housing 

 

Temporary accommodation for evacuees 

 

5.1 In August 2017, there were a total of 57 families, consisting of 108 people 

(including 18 children), displaced because of the Grenfell Tower fire, located 

in seven H&F hotels.  By 8th January 2018, this had reduced to 29 families, 

made up of 43 people.  

 

5.2 The families and individuals displaced required cash, food, clothes, health and 

care services, mobile phones and chargers, internet access and other 

supplies in the immediate days following the tragedy.  Laundry also had to be 

organised.   

 

5.3 One hotelier who took part in the H&F hackathon had a large number of the 

evacuees from Grenfell and the surrounding blocks staying at his hotel.  His 

staff were not adequately trained to deal with the traumatised guests that were 

placed in the hotel.  Once H&F had discovered that there were evacuees at 

the hotel, there were daily visits from the H&F Outreach team of support 

workers. This included Children’s Services placing key workers with every 

family located in an H&F hotel within 48 hours of notification of their arrival.  In 

the case of an emergency in Hammersmith & Fulham, the council’s Housing 

Service places families in temporary accommodation and informs Children's 

Services immediately and a social worker is allocated and visits on the same 

day.   

 

5.4 Hotel accommodation is the most obvious pool of temporary accommodation 

in H&F so a central database of such accommodation should be maintained 

by the Council.  There may be other unexplored options to consider, however, 

such as Airbnb and using residents’ spare rooms. 

 

5.5 Some of the officers assisting with finding temporary homes for Grenfell fire 

evacuees in H&F hotels noted the lack of a clear policy at that stage from 

RBKC as to what impact the acceptance of an offer of temporary 

accommodation in H&F might have on the rights of the tenant to be rehoused 

permanently in RBKC.  Some evacuees refused all offers of temporary 

accommodation from H&F due to fears that it would mean the loss of their 

entitlement to be rehoused in RBKC.  There needs to be cross-borough 

Page 35



18 
 

agreements between London councils in the event of a disaster of this nature, 

whereby acceptance of an offer of temporary accommodation by a 

neighbouring borough should not affect a tenant’s rights to social housing in 

their own borough.  H&F Council should agree such a policy for any social 

housing tenants of H&F Council that might be displaced by a similar incident 

in this borough.   

 

5.6 Information from both major incidents confirms the need for staff who are 

coordinating or arranging emergency support at the front line to have 

immediate access to financial resources to pay suppliers and access goods 

and services.  Moving forward, arrangements for corporate credit cards and 

their distribution within services should be considered within emergency plans. 

Efforts have been made to set up business accounts with H&F hotels to avoid 

the need to issue more corporate credit cards. 

 

Action taken 

 

 An additional corporate credit card has been issued to a third Housing 

Director to spot-purchase emergency accommodation and other essentials in 

the event families and individuals are displaced by an incident in H&F. 

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 H&F Council should agree a lettings policy that assures that any social 

housing tenant who is displaced by an incident of this scale will retain their 

rights to permanent rehousing in the borough, irrespective of any acceptance 

of an offer of temporary accommodation from another borough. 

 

 Cross-borough agreements should be laid down to ensure that tenants’ rights 

to permanent accommodation in their borough of origin are not adversely 

affected by the allocation of temporary accommodation in another borough 

where this is due to an emergency incident causing displacement from the 

home borough. 

 

 A data-sharing protocol should be drawn up to ensure that information on the 

needs of displaced residents from one borough can be shared with a 

neighbouring borough that is temporarily accommodating those families and 

individuals. 

 

 Further attempts should be made to secure business accounts with other 

hotels located in the borough. 

 

Page 36



19 
 

 Arrangements for corporate credit cards and their distribution within services 

should be considered within emergency plans.  

 

Assurance for H&F residents 

 

5.7 The new Chief Executive at H&F had initiated a review of the borough’s fire 

safety regime upon appointment in March 2017, and was in the process of 

implementing more stringent fire safety checks prior to the Grenfell Tower fire.   

 

5.8 Following the Grenfell fire, it was important to reassure H&F tenants and 

residents about their safety in tower blocks located within the borough.  

Understandably, Grenfell triggered discussions with tenants and residents on 

fire safety, especially at the Edward Woods Estate and at the Charecroft 

Estate.  However, communication with residents in the days that followed 

Grenfell quickly provided reassurance that there were no H&F tower blocks 

with the same cladding as at Grenfell.   

 

5.9 Urgent fire safety checks were carried out at Edward Woods, Charecroft and 

other tower blocks, with Fire Safety Advisers drafted in to visit all tower blocks.  

The Council also established the H&F Fire Safety Plus programme (see 

Appendix 4) to install sprinklers in all blocks where it would improve safety, 

replace fire doors and offer free safety checks and free replacement of faulty 

appliances. A Full Council meeting agreed to allocate £20m to this ‘Fire Safety 

Plus’ programme. 5  

 

Action taken 

 

 Fire safety checks have been completed on all 71 H&F high-rise tower blocks 

(a tower block is a communal residential building with more than 6 storeys) 

and all blocks of five or less storeys 

 

 Fire Safety Plus handbooks have been issued to H&F council residents, 

setting out the H&F offer of free safety checks for all homes and free 

replacement appliances and plug adaptors. 

 

 Concierge staff have been increased at the Edward Woods Estate and are 

now located in all three tower blocks of the estate. 

 

 Specifications for works to install sprinklers in all high-rise blocks, where this 

would improve safety, are being drawn up. 

 

                                                           
5
 See Appendix 4 

Page 37



20 
 

 A residents’ advisory group on fire safety is being set up to work with the 

Council on improvement plans. 

 

 A Property Compliance Task Force, chaired by the Chief Executive, has been 

set up to ensure that H&F Council is meeting its full responsibilities as a 

landlord. 

 

 The housing repairs emergency response service has been reviewed and 

enhanced and a new emergency response policy put in place.   

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 The Council should set out in advance the range of outreach support and 
services that could be available to families and individuals placed in 
temporary accommodation in and outside of the borough as a result of a 
major incident 
 

 Clear lists and contact details for all residents placed in temporary 
accommodation following an evacuation should be available and updated as 
necessary to key staff. 
 

 

6. Welfare 

 

6.1 Emergency welfare and support for those affected by major incidents is a 

critical element of any emergency response.  Support arrangements need to 

ensure that social care, health care and other support services continue to be 

provided for those with previously identified needs, and also respond to the 

additional impact of the incident, or possible evacuation.   Welfare 

arrangements should also be sympathetic to the cultural needs of local 

residents, and recognise the diverse nature of the local population.   

 

6.2 For example, some residents evacuated following the Grenfell fire and placed 

in H&F Hotels were observing Ramadan, and their experience was that this 

could not easily be accommodated by the hotel catering service.  Some 

residents were accommodated in hotels offering a bed and breakfast service 

with no other access to catering or food preparation.  The H&F Outreach 

Taskforce arranged food delivery services and meal vouchers, with supportive 

assistance from a number of local restaurants and caterers.  A pre-arranged 

protocol with local hoteliers to commission a specific catering response during 

emergencies or to sign up local restaurants willing to assist with providing 

meals to those affected may be helpful in future incidents.  A food and meal 

voucher system might be agreed in advance with supermarkets and 

restaurants in the borough. 

Page 38



21 
 

 

6.3 Some of those affected in both incidents had pre-existing health or social care 

needs, which required additional services to be available in both emergency 

centres and emergency accommodation (e.g. access to medication, social 

care support).   

 

6.4 The impact of incidents such as the Grenfell fire and the Parsons Green 

incident may result in ongoing needs which are likely to continue beyond the 

immediate event, or may only be identified after a period of time.  This may 

include trauma and post traumatic stress.  Moving forward, specific training for 

staff to provide appropriate responses and ongoing access to psychological 

support for traumatised residents should be considered within emergency 

plans.  

 

6.5 Support for children and young people with additional needs, such as those 

with learning disabilities, or families receiving social care support also needs 

to be addressed in emergency plans.  As part of the emergency response to 

the Grenfell fire, children in the affected area who were already receiving 

social care support were immediately identified by Children’s services.       

 

6.6 At Parsons Green, the NHS was not able to respond to requests to obtain 

medication for people in the rest centre.  Independently, a local pharmacist 

assisted the Rest Centre officers in liaising between residents and a local GP 

practice to provide medication for those that required it. 

 

6.7 H&F provides an employee assistance programme throughout the year.  The 

offer is enhanced for employees affected by a major incident to include 

telephone counselling and specific face-to-face support.  In the immediate 

aftermath of Grenfell, the Council further enhanced the offer with on-site 

counselling sessions in the six weeks following the incident.  In addition, 

regular communications about longer-term support available has been 

established, recognising some effects may be delayed.  During the Parsons 

Green incident a similar response was provided although, given the relatively 

lower numbers of employees affected, the role of the line managers in 

establishing contact and support requirements was most beneficial. 

 

Actions taken 

 

 An enhanced counselling service has been put in place for H&F staff. 

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 A process should be established to negotiate agreements with supermarkets 

and restaurants to provide food and meals to the victims and evacuees of 

Page 39



22 
 

future incidents, perhaps by way of a voucher scheme administered by the 

Council or local charities. 

 

 The offer of counselling to all staff involved in the Grenfell fire relief effort 

should be followed up over the coming weeks and months. 

 

 Service commissioners with responsibility for mental health services should 

consider how access to counselling services for non-council staff who 

volunteer to be emergency responders could be made available, particularly 

where the Council funds counselling services in the community. 

 

 Service commissioners with responsibility for mental health services should 

work with NHS partners to develop local plans to provide specialist support for 

trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder. 

 

 Work should be undertaken with local NHS services to develop future plans to 

ensure that access to medication can be quickly provided to those affected by 

emergencies, such as those in rest centres or emergency accommodation.   

 

 The Council should investigate whether 24-hour pharmacies can provide 

support in an incident where people require prescriptions in a rest centre.  

 

 

7. Donations Management 

 

7.1 On the evening following the Grenfell fire, Clem Attlee and Rocque Maton 

TRA and residents brought donations to Hammersmith Town Hall, then further 

donations began arriving spontaneously from 7pm and continued arriving over 

the following days.  On the day after the fire, there was a call for volunteers to 

assist with the co-ordination of the influx of donations, which brought 450 

offers of help from council staff and the wider community.  Donations were 

also being delivered to, and collected at, various other community sites across 

the borough, which were then diverted to the Town Hall. 

 

7.2 Some of the donations included perishable goods, which were stored whilst 

an assessment was made of the needs of evacuees of the fire.  The majority 

of the perishable goods was provided to the local foodbank for distribution.  

Non-perishable donations were stored by H&F.  Some of the donations were 

directly distributed to evacuee families in local hotels, including toiletries.  

Once the Red Cross became involved as part of the government task force, 

they coordinated donations for Grenfell from all areas.  Consequently, the 

remaining donations stored by H&F were provided to the Red Cross for 

storage and distribution.   

Page 40



23 
 

 

7.3 At the time of the Grenfell fire, H&F did not have a plan for the management of 

donations and volunteers as part of its emergency response plan and had to 

move quickly to put ad hoc arrangements in place.  Key officers were taken off 

their day jobs and asked to develop a donations receiving centre.  This quickly 

became full with thousands of donated items sorted, stacked, boxed and 

labelled by over 100 volunteers (both staff and residents).  Officers leading on 

donations management for Grenfell had no experience of this work nor the 

scale of the operation and much can be learned from their direct experience 

and considerable fortitude over the initial 3 days at the height of donations.   

 

7.4 Officers coordinating the donations stated that they would have benefitted 

from more internal communications and quicker updates.  It might have been 

helpful to have had a visible screen constantly updating everyone and 

displaying important information across the locations where donations were 

being handled.   

 

7.5 Moving forward, H&F emergency plans should be developed to anticipate 

large scale donations and work with community partners to coordinate activity 

to effectively manage this.  A donations protocol should be developed to 

communicate guidance on donations management including how to separate 

new and used items, the importance of signage advising that donations can 

not be returned and the importance of logging items so that once boxed they 

could be more easily located.  

 

7.5 The donation management plan needs to identify suitable storage sites (both 

temporary and longer term) to receive and process donations in different parts 

of the borough and local businesses identified that that can provide storage 

boxes.  Volunteers brought in to manage the donations need to be 

appropriately briefed and supported to undertake the task. 

 

Recommendation for action 

 

 A donation management protocol should be drawn up and agreed by the 

council in discussion with community partners to help manage all aspects of 

donation management.  The plan should form part of the Council’s emergency 

management plan procedures.  It should include a communications plan to 

ensure that, in the event of a future major incident, donors are well informed 

about the type of donations needed and where donations should be taken.  

The protocol should guide organisers on how to stack, store and allocate 

donations and engage volunteers and clarify to donors what will happen to 

their gift once received. 

 

Page 41



24 
 

 Specific council staff should be nominated to be ‘Donations Managers’ in the 

event of any future incidents and briefed accordingly. 

 

 

8. Training 

 

8.1 H&F emergency responders report that the training they receive is excellent.  

To ensure there are sufficient numbers of staff trained to cope in the 

immediate period following an incident of the scale and duration of the 

Grenfell Tower disaster, additional training has been provided or is planned 

for roles within H&F’s Emergency Response Structure (see 4.1).  As of 5th 

January 2018, there are 105 H&F officers trained in emergency response 

roles.  This number has increased since Grenfell, with additional officers 

trained as Council Silver, Welfare Bronze and Housing Emergency Response 

Officers.  Further training is planned in January 2018, to form a new team of 

nine officers as BECC responders.  Training will continue to be provided and 

updated across the emergency planning roles.   

 

8.2 Staff across some shared services responding to the major incidents had 

inconsistent understanding of H&F specific emergency plans and procedures.  

There needs to be better awareness of H&F’s emergency management plan 

across all service areas that may need to respond to an emergency incident 

and training offered if required.  Crisis management training should be 

delivered to all directors and all councillors on a prioritised basis. 

 

8.3 It is also proposed that training is needed for responders from the community 

as well as council staff.  The community response to the relief effort for both 

major incidents was widely praised but most of those volunteers had little or 

no training. 

 

Action taken 

 

 Training provided to increase number of council officers in key roles in the 

emergency response structure.  

 

 Strategic Leadership Team emergency planning training and briefing session 

held in December 2017.  

 

Action to be taken 

 

 Further emergency responders training to be provided to more staff. 

 

Page 42



25 
 

 Wider staff awareness training or guidance to be provided on H&Fs 

emergency management plan and procedures. 

 

 There will be at least eight trained officers to cover each of the key roles of 

Duty Silver (currently 8 trained officers), Welfare Bronze (currently 7 trained 

officers) and Rest Centre Manager (currently 7 trained officers). 

 

Recommendations for further action 

 

 Training on emergency response to be provided to community responders, 

TRAs and residents.  

 

 Crisis management training should be provided for directors, cabinet 

members, shadow cabinet members and ward councillors, on a prioritised 

basis.  

 

 Media training should be provided for councillors.  

 

 

9. Work with Communities, Local Agencies and Businesses 

 

9.1 The public response to the Grenfell fire was tremendous in demonstrating the 

widespread compassion that people feel for victims of a disaster of such 

magnitude.  This compassion and drive to help resulted in a large number of 

volunteers, faith groups and local community organisations, residents and 

businesses all getting involved.   

 

9.2 The strength of the community response in H&F to both major incidents 

provides an opportunity to consider how the volunteering offer can be better 

coordinated and harnessed and the array of skills that are available across the 

borough identified.  There needs to be work done to build community 

resilience as part of an emergency response.  This was considered as part of 

the ‘Stronger Together: Building Community Resilience’ hackathon event in 

September 2017.  Future ideas for consideration include developing an 

emergency responder/volunteering database, identifying community go-

betweens and undertaking more outreach and community development work. 

 

9.3 Where there are to be significant numbers of displaced individuals located in a 

specific area, then a plan of action is required to inform and reassure the local 

community in which those individuals are going to be placed.  This was 

required in the area around the location of a temporary school that had to be 

established on Wormwood Scrubs to relocate the pupils of Aldridge School, 

which had to be closed because of the Grenfell fire.  It was rightly felt that it 

Page 43



26 
 

was important to keep the Aldridge School pupils together.  Some local 

residents expressed concern at the potential impact on the community of a 

large number of school pupils being relocated to their area.  

 

Action taken 

 

 A hackathon event, ‘Stronger Together: Building Community Resilience’, has 

been held with representatives of local businesses, local agencies and 

community groups.  (A hackathon is an event with focussed sessions that 

brings stakeholders together to discuss complex problems and come up with 

possible solutions.) 

 

Recommendations for action 

 

 The proposals that came forward from the hackathon should be progressed – 

building up contact lists with details of possible roles and offers of available 

support from local organisations and businesses. 

 

 Taining should be provided for community outreach responders. 

 

 A database of volunteers should be considered. 

 

 Where displaced individuals are to be relocated in new communities, advance 

information and reassurance should be given to those within the host 

community. 

 

 Service level agreements with funded organisations should be amended to 

allocate duties and responsibilities for assisting in an emergency situation.   

 

 

10. Regional and National Implications 

 

11.1 There are lessons to be learned from the Grenfell Tower fire and the response 

to it for national Government, the LGA and regional government, as well as for 

local authorities.  New guidelines are likely to be required, and are anticipated 

following the conclusions of the Public Inquiry and other reviews.  This report 

has urged for new thinking and learning on ‘bystander management’ – namely 

the role and responsibilities of neighbouring authorities where an incident is 

close to an administrative boundary.  

 

11.2 It is disappointing that central government has not made additional funding 

available to carry out the essential refurbishments and safety measures that 

have been identified as being needed.  H&F has developed its own Fire 

Page 44



27 
 

Safety Plus programme, utilising only council resources, in response to our 

review of fire safety across the borough.  

 

11.3 DCLG has written to all councils with a request to actively ensure owners of 

private residential tower blocks are taking measures to ensure their residents 

are safe.  The request of councils is to identify any private residential tower 

blocks that have ACM or similar cladding and to ensure adequate mitigation is 

in place.  The Environmental Health/Corporate Health & Safety team is 

leading this work for H&F which is ongoing at the time of writing.  

 

11.4 H&F Council was asked to submit a response to the consultation on the terms 

of reference of the Grenfell Tower Inquiry and proposed that the following 

questions need to be answered: 

 

 Training and resources 

 Were enough officers trained in emergency response roles and tactics to 
be able to respond to an incident of this type and scale?  

 
Decision making 

 What was the decision-making process and who made those decisions and 
were the Gold arrangements adequate?  

 
Wider implications 

 Are the current arrangements adequate to respond to an incident of this 
scale?  

 Should LLAG and LLACC have stepped up response, in any event, without 
being asked?  

 There are no mutual aid agreements between London and the surrounding 
counties or other parts of the UK, other than those arranged locally.  Does 
this need looking at, in light of the Grenfell tragedy?  

 

Pastoral and other support provided 

 Can the current mutual aid arrangements be re-visited for longer term 
recovery incidents?  

 What improvements could be made on data/information sharing between 
agencies relating to affected families and individuals?  

 

Donations management 

 What additional training, resources and planning is needed to manage 
donations in major incidents?  

 How can emergency response agencies work together with the voluntary 
and community sector and businesses to manage donations effectively?  

 

Building fire safety management 

 Are the current regulations and guidance for fire safety management in 
social housing and other types of residential property fit for purpose? Would 

Page 45



28 
 

safety be enhanced by adopting an Approved Code of Practice for fire 
safety management for landlords?  

 How effective are sprinklers compared with other measures as part of fire 
safety management?  Should sprinklers be mandated for all properties over 
a certain number of storeys?  Should a common prescribed standard be set 
to minimise ongoing maintenance liabilities?  

 How can the practical challenges of managing the fire safety of high-rise 
buildings with a mixture of leasehold and tenanted properties be 
overcome?  

 Is a national regulatory body needed for fire risk assessment, similar to that 
in place for the gas safety industry?  

 

Recommendations for action 

 

 An ask that new guidance is produced by national government, the LGA and 

London Councils on key areas of learning from the Grenfell fire. 

 

 It is noted that an independent peer challenge of London’s regional resilience 

procedures has been commissioned by London Councils, on behalf of London 

local government.  

 

 

Page 46



 

29 
 

Appendix 1 

Map of Grenfell Tower Local Area           Location of Grenfell Tower 

Shepherds Bush and North Kensington 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 47



 

30 
 

Map of Parsons Green local area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 48



31 
 

Appendix 2 

 
EMERGENCY PLANNING REQUIREMENTS 
 
Our emergency planning should aim, where possible, to prevent emergencies 
occurring, and when they do occur good planning should reduce, control or 
mitigate the effects of the emergency. It is a systematic and ongoing process 
which should evolve as lessons are learnt and circumstances change.  
 
Organisations should aim to maintain plans which cover 3 different areas: 
 

 Plans for preventing an emergency 
 
In some circumstances there will be a short period before an emergency occurs 
when it might be avoided by prompt or decisive action 
 

 Plans for reducing, controlling, or mitigating the effects of an 
emergency 

 
The main bulk of planning should consider how to minimise the effects of an 
emergency, starting with the impact of the event and looking at remedial actions 
that can be taken to reduce effects. The evacuation of people may be a direct 
intervention which can mitigate the effects of some emergencies. Recovery plans 
should also be developed to reduce the effects of the emergency and ensure long 
term recovery.  
 

 Plans for taking other action in connection with an emergency 
 
Emergency planning should also look beyond the immediate response and long-
term recovery issues and look also at secondary impacts. For example, the wave 
of reaction to an emergency can be quite overwhelming in terms of media 
attention and public response. Plans may need to consider how to handle this 
increased interest. 
 
Emergency plans should include procedures when to activate the plan in 
response to an emergency. This should include identifying an appropriately 
trained person who will take the decision, in consultation with others, on when an 
emergency has occurred. 
 
Exercising plans and training staff 
 
Organisations should test the effectiveness of their emergency plans by carrying 
out exercises, and should ensure that those involved in the planning for or 
response to an emergency receive appropriate training.  
 
Organisations should also ensure their plans give due consideration to the 
welfare of their own personnel. 

 
  

Page 49



LBHF                                                                                                                                  Section 6 
Emergency Management Plan                                                         RECOVERY FRAMEWORK 

32 
 

Voluntary sector 
 
Where appropriate, organisations should consider whether voluntary 
organisations may have capabilities which could assist in responding to an 
emergency. 
 
The voluntary sector can provide a wide range of skills and services in 
responding to an emergency. These can include: practical support (such as first 
aid, transportation, or provisions for responders); psycho-social support such as 
counselling and helplines; equipment; and information services. 
 

  

Page 50



LBHF                                                                                                                                  Section 6 
Emergency Management Plan                                                         RECOVERY FRAMEWORK 

33 
 

Appendix 3 

Service Resilience Group: 

Chief Executive 

Lead Director of Regeneration, Planning and Housing Services 

Lead Director Environmental Services (Director for Environmental Health) 

Director of Housing Options 

Director of Delivery and Value 

Director of Adult Social Care 

Director of Childrens Services 

Director for Property Services 

Director for Finance and Resources 

Head of Emergency Services 

Strategic Head of Communications 

Head of Environmental Health (Residential) 

Strategic Head of Development, Regeneration and Economic Growth 

Page 51



A residents’ guide to fire safety 1f

WE’RE 
WORKING
TO KEEP 
YOU SAFE

Page 52



A residents’ guide to fire safety2

The fire in Kensington has made one thing clear –  
just meeting minimum fire standards is not enough. 
The regulations are clearly not good enough. So we’ve 
put together this H&F Fire Safety Plus programme, and 
we’re going above and beyond what is required.

We want our residents to know that we care deeply 
about your safety, we understand your concerns, and 
we will do everything it takes to keep you safe.

All councils need to do more to make sure tenants’ and leaseholders’ 
homes are safe. We’ve got work to do here – that’s why we’ve developed 
this H&F Fire Safety Plus programme, to make sure our properties meet 
higher standards. And we’ve set aside £20million to pay for it.

Tenants and leaseholders have been working with us to shape our Fire 
Safety Plus package. We’ve been visiting estates and hearing residents’ 
concerns and suggestions for improving fire safety – and we’re acting on 
that with a massive programme of works.

 

Cllr Stephen Cowan 
Leader of Hammersmith & Fulham Council

WE’RE WORKING HARD TO 
KEEP YOU SAFE

Page 53



A residents’ guide to fire safety 3

OUR FIRE SAFETY PLUS 
PROGRAMME

Our Fire Safety Plus programme is about doing more than the minimum 
requirement to keep you safe. We’ve set aside the money to fund a major 
package of testing, building works and free equipment for our residents 
that live in council owned accommodation.

1  Replacement concierges
We are bringing back concierge staff to Edward Woods and Charecroft 
estates and looking to do the same at other estates where concierge staff 
have been removed in the past.

2  Sprinklers in tower blocks
We are working on a plan which is being discussed with the London Fire 
Brigade about the feasibility of fitting sprinklers in tower blocks. As we 
progress we’ll be in touch with more details.

3  Better fire assessments
Independent experts are reviewing safety in all communal blocks. Current 
standards don’t require assessments to check the outside of the building 
(cladding and external panels are not usually checked). Although we don’t 
have the Grenfell fire cladding, we’ve raised the standards in H&F and 
asked our expert fire reviewers to look at all external panelling. They will 
also do much more detailed and thorough assessments than in the past. 

Page 54



A residents’ guide to fire safety4

4  Free safety checks for every home
We are offering every resident an individual safety check visit, with priority 
for people in high-rise homes (six storeys or more). Depending on what 
your property needs, this could mean follow up visits to carry out a 
portable appliance test (PAT), if you want one and to remove and replace 
any appliance that fails. We aim to do this within 48 hours.

• New fire doors – We will work on checking the entire block you live in 
and organise a programme of works to ensure the block is safe. We will 
write with more details and updates.

• Free replacement appliances – If one or more of your appliances 
fails a PAT we will cut the plug off immediately and remove the failed 
appliance and replace it with a good quality, brand new one – for free. 
We aim to do this within 48 hours.

 The fire in Shepherds Court last year was started by a faulty Hotpoint 
tumble dryer. If you haven’t yet checked whether your appliances are 
on the Hotpoint, Creda or Indesit recall list, please do so and book your 
upgrade with them. Check whether your tumble dryer is affected at: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/checkyourappliance

• Free heat detectors – During our visit, we’ll also install free heat 
detectors and check any detectors or alarms you already have to make 
sure they’re working properly.

Book now

To book your Fire Safety Plus visit, please call the customer services centre 
on 0800 023 4499 or email: firesafetyplus@mitie.com

Page 55



A residents’ guide to fire safety 5

FIRE SAFETY PLUS

If you are 
presently using  
an adaptor  
which looks  
like this:

Then we will 
happily swap it 
for an extension 
lead which 
looks like this:

5  Free plug adaptors
The London Fire Brigade advise residents not to use cube-style plug 
adaptor/extensions. They say linear adaptors with circuit breakers built in 
are safer. 

You can exchange your cube-style plug adaptors for FREE for a safer type 
of extension lead. All you need to do is bring your cube-style plug adaptors 
down to your local housing office and we will give you new linear adaptors 
for every cube you exchange. If you want more details on how to avoid 
fires caused by electrical equipment please visit:  
www.london-fire.gov.uk/ElectricalEquipment.asp

 

Page 56



A residents’ guide to fire safety6

BLOCKS WITH CLADDING
We have no council blocks in H&F that have cladding like that used on 
Grenfell Tower.

We have only three blocks that have cladding – all at the Edward Woods 
estate. We have had both the materials used and the installation tested  
by independent experts BRE, and the Edward Woods estate has passed 
these tests.

There are a few housing association blocks in the borough that have failed 
the cladding tests. None of these are council properties, and the housing 
associations that own them have notified their tenants and are working to 
make them safe.

EXTERNAL PANELS
The fire at Shepherds Court in Shepherds Bush on 19 August 2016 was 
caused by a faulty tumble dryer igniting. There was no loss of life or serious 
injury and initial fire reports showed the fire was well-contained. However, 
the fire brigade subsequently raised concerns about external panels below 
lounge windows. 

We commissioned one of the leading firms in the field to carry out 
additional testing and assessment of these window panels.

We will be removing and replacing the window panels at Charecroft estate 
and we have round-the-clock fire patrols in all the Charecroft blocks to 
keep people safe while this work is being done.

We have commissioned a review of all our other communal blocks to 
check if these panels are used elsewhere, to check their safety, and, if 
necessary, to replace these too.

Page 57



A residents’ guide to fire safety 7

One of the main lessons from the Grenfell fire is that councils should do 
more to listen to residents and act on their concerns. Here’s what we’ve 
been doing to make sure residents’ voices are heard:

 Fire safety officers have been 
visiting all our estates to talk 
to residents, and to check fire 
safety arrangements.

 We are setting up a residents’ 
advisory group on fire safety, 
to work with us on our 
improvement plans.

 We have held advice and 
listening sessions at the Edward 
Woods and Charecroft estates 
in Shepherds Bush – some of 
our tallest tower blocks where 
there have been concerns about 
cladding and window panels. 

 We’ve written to all residents in 
high-rise blocks in H&F to offer 
advice and reassurance where 
we can. We’ve also written 
separately to residents of Edward 
Woods and Charecroft estates 
about their specific concerns.

 We’ve met representatives from 
our tenants’ and residents’ 
associations to hear their views 
on actions we need to take, and 
will continue to work closely 
with local people.

LISTENING TO RESIDENTS

Page 58



A residents’ guide to fire safety8

PLEASE HELP  
KEEP YOUR HOME SAFE

There are some simple ways you can help keep your home and family safe. 
The following requests are based on fire brigade advice.

 Please keep communal areas and 
hallways clear of obstructions, 
such as furniture, bikes and 
boxes. It could save lives.

 Please don’t smoke in bed or 
leave candles unattended.

 Please talk to your family about 
your fire plan – and make sure 
everyone knows what they 
should do, including children. 
Each block has its own fire 
safety procedures, but you can 
also find general advice from the 
London Fire Brigade at  
www.london-fire.gov.uk

 Please talk to your neighbours 
and help them with their fire 
plans if they need it, especially 
older people living alone or 
people who have recently 
moved to the area.

 Please don’t remove or alter the 
external fire door to your flat. 
These are crucial to stopping the 
spread of fire in any block and 
give you the protection you need 
to stay safe until the fire brigade 
is able to put out any fire. 

 We really need you to help us by 
allowing us access for fire and 
safety inspections so we can test 
equipment and fire doors. 

 Please check if any of your white 
goods have been recalled by 
the manufacturer by using the 
link below. The manufacturer 
will replace appliances that have 
been recalled. https://www.
electricalsafetyfirst.org.uk/
product-recalls/ 

Page 59



A residents’ guide to fire safety 9

Fire safety in all buildings also depends on good maintenance and 
housekeeping.

Here are some things to keep an eye on.

 All front doors of flats and doors 
on corridors and staircases must 
be ‘self-closing’ fire doors.

 Fire doors must ‘self-close’ 
properly, and not be held or 
wedged open. They are designed 
to stop the spread of fire.

 Things shouldn’t be stored in 
corridors or staircases. This can 
block escape routes and stop 
firefighters doing their job. They 
can also feed the fire.

 Keep any storage on individual 
balconies to a minimum and do 
not use a BBQ on your balcony

 There should be signs that show 
you how to escape a fire.

If you’re concerned about any of these things, please contact your local 
housing office for more details.

 
North Area Office   South Area Office

New Zealand Way   Clem Atlee estate 
White City estate   Lillie Road 
London W12 7DE   London SW6 7RX

Tel: 020 8753 4808   Tel: 020 8753 4327 
Email:      Email: 
hammersmithnorth@lbhf.gov.uk fulhamnorth@lbhf.gov.uk

WHAT TO LOOK FOR IN  
YOUR BUILDING

Page 60



A residents’ guide to fire safety10

Below is the current advice from the fire brigade and their guidance 
remains the same after the Grenfell fire.

If your home is affected by fire or 
smoke and your escape route is 
clear:

 Get everyone out, close all 
windows and doors and walk 
calmly out of the building.

 Do not use the lift.

 Call 999, give your address, the 
number of your flat and state 
which floor the fire is on.

If there is a fire or smoke inside 
your home, but your escape 
route is NOT clear:

 It may still be safer to stay in 
your flat until the fire brigade 
arrives.

 Find a safe room, close the door 
and use soft materials to block 
any gaps to stop the smoke.

 Go to a window, shout  
“HELP, FIRE” and call 999.

 Be ready to describe where you 
are and the quickest way to 
reach you.

If there is a fire in another part of 
the building:

 You are usually safer staying put 
and calling 999. Purpose-built 
blocks of flats are built to give 
you some protection from fire. 
Walls, floors and doors can hold 
back flames and smoke for 30 
to 60 minutes.

 Tell the fire brigade where you are 
and the best way to reach you. 

 If you are in the common parts of 
the building, leave and call 999.

 Follow the fire safety instructions 
in your block.

SHOULD I STAY PUT?

Page 61



A residents’ guide to fire safety 11

The London Fire Brigade’s guidance is to ‘Stay Put’ unless your flat is 
affected by fire or smoke.

This is because:

 Blocks of flats are usually built 
to prevent the spread of fire – 
‘compartmentalisation’ includes 
fire breaks between flats and 
between floors.  

 By leaving your flat, you may 
walk into smoke or fire in 
communal areas.

 Opening your fire door may allow 
the fire into your home and help 
spread smoke and flames.

 Staying put will also allow 
firefighters to tackle the fire 
safely and quickly without being 
delayed by many residents 
evacuating down the stairways.

 During the Shepherds Court fire 
in 2016, residents were advised 
to follow the standard fire 
brigade advice for tower blocks 
and to stay in their homes. Many 
families remained in the upper 
floors until the fire was brought 
under control. This action kept 
residents safe.

 This ‘stay put’ advice, together 
with the swift response to the 
fire and the building’s good-
quality fire-retardant systems, 
led to the initial fire report 
concluding there had been ‘no 
rapid fire growth’, and shows 
these combined measures can, 
and do, work successfully.

WHY IS IT USUALLY SAFER TO 
STAY PUT?

Page 62



A residents’ guide to fire safety12

©
 B

y:
de

si
gn

 0
20

 8
75

3 
17

64
 - 

Ju
ly

 2
01

7 
  R

ef
: 2

84
_2

cc
   

Pr
in

te
d 

by
 H

am
m

er
pr

in
t 0

20
 8

75
3 

22
35

English
Information from this document can be made available in alternative 
formats and in different languages. If you require further assistance 
please use the contact details below.

Arabic

 
 
Farsi

 
 
French
Les informations présentées dans ce document peuvent vous être 
fournies dans d’autres formats et d’autres langues. Si vous avez besoin 
d’une aide complémentaire, veuillez utiliser les coordonnées ci-dessous.

Portuguese
A informação presente neste documento pode ser disponibilizada 
em formatos alternativos e em línguas diferentes. Se desejar mais 
assistência, use por favor os contactos fornecidos abaixo.

Somali
Macluumaadka dokumentigan waxaa lagu heli karaa qaabab kale iyo 
luuqado kala duwan. Haddii aad u baahan tahay caawinaad intaas 
dhaafsiisan fadlan isticmaal xiriirka faahfaahinta hoose.

Spanish
La información en este documento puede facilitarse en formatos 
alternativos y en diferentes idiomas. Si necesita más ayuda por favor 
utilice la siguiente información de contacto.

Contact us:
www.lbhf.gov.uk/firesafetyplus-translate

Page 63



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDRENS AND EDUCATIONSERVICES POLICY AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
29 January 2018 

 

 
 

2018 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance – Councillor Max Schmid 

 
Report Status: Open 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara, Strategic Finance Director 
 

Report Authors:  
Corporate Overview  
Andrew Lord – Head of Strategic Planning 
and Monitoring 
Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Finance Director 
Childrens Services 
Dave McNamara – Director for Finance and 
Resources 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2501  
E-mail: hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
 
Tel: 020 8753 3404  
E-mail: dave.mcnamara@lbhf.gov.uk   

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

1.1. Cabinet will present their revenue budget and council tax proposals to 
Budget Council on 21st February 2018. A balanced budget will be set in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

1.2. This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by this 
Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is also provided on 
any changes in fees and charges. 
 

1.3. Government resource assumptions, that are used to calculate LBHF’s 
Government grant, model the council increasing council tax by 6% in 
2018/19. However, in line with the administration’s policy of lowering the 
cost of the council to residents, this increase has not been proposed. 
Instead, the budget proposes to freeze council tax for the year.  

 
  

Page 64

Agenda Item 7

mailto:hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:dave.mcnamara@lbhf.gov.uk


2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. That the Committee considers the budget proposals and makes 
recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 
 

2.2. That the Committee considers the proposed changes to fees and charges 
and makes recommendations as appropriate.  
 

3. THE BUDGET GAP 
 

3.1. The 2018/19 budget gap, before savings, is £14.6m, rising to £55.1m by 
2021/22. The budget is based on several key assumptions regarding 
resources and expenditure. 
 
Table 1: Budget Gap Before Savings 

 

  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

  £’m £’m £’m £’m 

Base Budget 155.0 155.0 155.0 155.0 

Add:         

- Inflation (includes pay) 5.2 10.6 15.8 21.1 

- headroom 0.0 6.0 12.0 18.0 

- Growth 6.8 7.2 7.2 6.9 

Budgeted Expenditure 167.0 178.8 190.0 201.0 

Less:         

- Government Resources -10.1 -28.5 -25.4 -23.5 

- LBHF Resources -139.0 -115.3 -117.2 -119.1 

- Use of Developer 
Contributions 

-3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 

Budgeted Resources -152.4 -147.1 -145.9 -145.9 

          

Cumulative Budget Gap 
Before Savings 

14.6 31.7 44.1 55.1 

          

Risks 19.3 25.0 28.3 31.2 

 
Budget Assumptions 
 

3.2. A continued reduction in the general grant receivable by Hammersmith and 
Fulham from Central Government. Grant funding1 has been cut in each 
year since 2010/11. The total reduction since April 2010 to March 2018 has 
been £70m. In addition, there will be a further reduction in 2018/19 of 
£8.6m and further £5.2m cut is forecast by 2021/22.    
 

                                            
1
 After allowance for changes in funding between grant and business rates. 

Page 65



3.3. A Council Tax freeze is modelled with no use of the adult social care 
precept. Authorities can opt to levy a maximum adult social care precept of 
3% in 2018/19 and up to 6% by 2019/20. A 3% precept would raise £1.7m 
for LBHF. Central Government grant assumptions are based on LBHF 
raising council tax and the precept by a combined 6% per year to 2019/20. 
2018/19 is the third year of a four-year local government finance settlement 
that started in 2016/17. From 2016/17 to 20181/9 Government modelling 
has assumed an overall council tax increase of 13.3% of which 7% relates 
to use of the socal care precept. The administration, however, has a 
commitment to reduce the cost of the council to residents and will not be 
increasing tax.  

 
3.4. Business rates are modelled to increase with inflation with allowance 

made for an extra £2.2m from the opening of the Westfield extension in 
March 2018.  
 

3.5. London Local Government has been working to take forward a 100% 
business rates retention pilot for London from April 2018.  

 
3.6 The pilot will pool business rates across the 33 London Boroughs and Greater 

London Authority (GLA).   
 

3.7 Under such an arrangement London will keep 100% of any growth in business 
rates, though business rates valuations and levels would still be set by 
Government. Indicative modelling has suggested this may benefit Hammersmith 
and Fulham by £2.6m. In addition, £110m would be generated for a London wide 
investment pot. 

 
3.8 At present Hammersmith and Fulham retains 30% of the business rates it collects 

with the balance paid to the Government and GLA. Under the proposed pilot the 
share retained by Hammersmith and Fulham would increase to 67% with the 
balance going to the GLA. The Council would not initially benefit from the 
increased share as there would be compensating reductions (through grant cuts 
and payment of a tariff to Government). These adjustments are shown in Table 2. 
The benefit to Hammersmith and Fulham would be receiving a share of London’s 
future business rates growth. 

 
Table 2 – Changes to Funding Streams from the Business Rates Pilot 
 

  No-Pilot With Pilot 

Business Rates Baseline 77.9 157.8 

Tariff payable to the Government -18.8 -74.8 

Funding Baseline 59.1 83 

Revenue Support Grant 23.9 0 

Total LBHF Funding 83 83 

 
3.9 Table 2 sets out the sums assumed by the Government in the 2018 Local 

Government Finance Settlement. The current LBHF forecast, which will be 
updated in January, for business rates income is £80.4m.  Under the pilot 

Page 66



scheme there is a guarantee that no authority will be worse off than under the 
present scheme. 

 
3.10 The 100% business rates retention pool:  

 Is a pilot and may not continue after 2018/19. 

 Uses modelling based on an aggregation of high level estimates. 

 Will not confirm final income until October 2019 in relation to 2018/19 
 

3.11 Greater clarity, after each Borough updates their 2018/19 business rates 
forecast, on the potential benefits from the pilot 100% business rates 
retention pool will be available in mid-February.  No benefit is allowed for 
within the current LBHF resource forecast. Once confirmed the sum 
receivable will be added to Reserves.  

 
3.12 Property developments have placed increased pressure on council 

services in recent years.  
 

3.13 Section 106 agreements containing planning obligations are entered 
between developers and the Council as the Local Planning Authority. 
Legislation controls the use of such obligations, including regulation 122 of 
the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 which requires planning 
obligations to be: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

3.14 The Council has entered into a significant number of s106 agreements.  Whilst 
S106 funds can only lawfully be applied in accordance with the terms of each 
specific agreement, as approved by the Planning Applications Committee, some 
approved funds are identified generally as being for expenditure on as yet 
unspecified “Social and Physical Infrastructure” or “Environmental Improvements” 
(although the agreements identify the types of projects/items the funds can be 
used for). 

3.15 Provided the Council respects the obligation to maintain a reasonable 
relationship with the developments and complies with the specific terms of 
each of the s106 agreements giving rise to the funds, the Council has a 
degree of flexibility and discretion as to how it spends some of these 
funds.  The council has analysed all its s106 agreements that may give a 
financial benefit to determine which should be relied upon for budgeting 
purposes and which have flexibility in how they may be applied.  As is usual 
in these circumstances many areas of Council activity that have faced 
increased demand following new developments offer a good fit with the 
purposes of some of the uncommitted s106 funds which can therefore be 
lawfully used to finance such activities. 

 
3.16 The Council currently has section 106 receipts of £50.1m in hand with agreements 

in place for the receipt of future financial obligations of £201m.  £72.4m of the 
future obligations are assessed as highly likely to be received by the close of 

Page 67



2021/22. The total amount of flexible funding in-hand, or highly likely to be 
received, is estimated to be a minimum of £72m by the close of 2021/22. 

 
3.17 The 2018/19 budget assumes that £3.3m (an additional £0.7m compared to 

previous years) of expenditure will be funded from section 106 resources with 
such funding on-going over the MTFS period. In addition, contributions of £1.7m 
per annum are assumed towards the provision of policing. 
 

3.18 Inflation. A pay award of 2% per annum is modelled compared to 1% in 
2017/18. Inflation has also been provided, on a case by case basis, to 
meet external contractual requirements. Inflationary pressures have 
increased in the wider economy with the August Retail Price Index showing 
an increase of 3.9% compared to 1.8% last year.  For 2018/19, the sum 
provided for overall inflation is £5.2m (£1.8m pay and £3.4m non-pay) 
compared to £2.9m in 2017/18. 

 
4 GROWTH, SAVINGS AND RISKS 
 

4.1 The growth and savings proposals for the services covered by this PAC 
are set out in Appendix 1 with budget risks set out in Appendix 2 

 
Growth 

 
4.2 Budget growth is summarised by Service Area in Table 3.  
 

Table 3: 2018/19 Growth Proposals 
  

Department £m 

Adult Social Care 1.3 

Childrens Services 1.8 

Environmental Services 0.6 

Corporate Services 0.3 

Regeneration, Planning & Housing Services 1.4 

Centally Managed Budgets 1.4 

Total Growth 6.8 

 
 Savings 

 
4.3 The Council faces a continuing financial challenge due to overall Central 

Government funding cuts, unfunded burdens, inflation, and growth 
pressures. The budget gap will increase in each of the next three years if 
no action is taken to reduce expenditure, generate more income through 
commercial revenue or continue to grow the number of businesses in the 
borough. 
 

4.4 To close the budget gap for 2018/19 savings (including additional income) 
of £15.4m are proposed.  

 
 

Page 68



  Table 4: 2018/19 Savings and Additional Income 
 

Service Area £’m 

Adult Social Care (2.9) 

Children’s Services (2.1) 

Environmental Services (1.9) 

Library Services (0.1) 

Corporate Services (2.7) 

Public Health (2.0) 

Regeneration, Planning & Housing Services (0.2) 

Commercial and Cross-Cutting (3.5) 

Savings (15.4) 

 
 4.6 The Council will receive Public Health Grant of £21.8m in 2018/19. The 

savings of £2m in existing services will enable investment in Council 
services that deliver public health outcomes.  

 
4.7 The saving proposals are categorised by savings area in Table 5. 

 
  Table 5: Categorisation of Savings and Additional Income 
 

 2017/18  
£’m 

2018/19 
£’m 

Business Intelligence (0.6) (0.4) 

Budget reduced in line with spend (0.3) (0.2) 

Commercialisation  (2.9) (3.4) 

Estate Rationalisation 0 (0.1) 

Income (0.3) (0.5) 

Outside investment secured  (0.2) (0.1) 

Prevention (0.6) (1.6) 

Procurement / Commissioning (5.0) (5.1) 

Service reconfiguration (2.7) (3.1) 

Staffing / Productivity (2.2) (0.9) 

Total All Savings (15.0) (15.4) 

 
  

Budget Risk and Reserves 
 

4.8 The Council’s budget requirement for 2018/19 is £152.4m. Within a budget 
of this magnitude there are inevitably areas of risk and uncertainty 
particularly within the current challenging financial environment. The key 
financial risks that face the Council have been identified and quantified. 
They total £19.5m. Financial risks of £20.6m were identified when the 
2017/18 Budget was set. 

 
4.9 The level of balances and reserves are examined each year in light of the 

risks facing the Authority in the medium term. The latest position is set out 
in Table 6. 

Page 69



 
4.10 The Council has used reserves to fund investment in transformation and 

efficiency and other significant one-off costs pressures. Examples in 
2016/17 included investments in ICT, Invest to Save schemes such as 
LED street-lighting and mitigating the impact of the Managed Services 
project. 

 
4.11 The 2018/19 base budget includes planned contributions of £0.75m to the 

Efficiency Projects Reserve and £0.8m to the IT Enablers Reserve. In 
addition, the proposed savings for 2018/19 (£15.4m) currently exceed the 
budget gap (£14.8m). This will enable a further contribution to Reserves of 
£0.6m.  The sum due from the London 100% Business Rates retention 
pilot (estimated at £2.6m) will also be put to Reserves. In total, the 
estimated contribution to Reserves for 2018/19 is £4.75m. Uses of 
Reserves in 2018/19 will include taking forward the Integrated Family 
Support Service, taking forward new arrangements for the outsourced 
managed services programme and funding the Landlord Incentive scheme 
to support the provision of temporary accommodation. 
 

Table 6 – General Fund Balances and Earmarked Reserves 
 

 31/03/14 
actual 

31/03/15 
actual 

31/0316 
actual 

31/03/17 
actual 

31/03/18 
forecast 

 £’m £’m £’m £’m £’m 

General Balances 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

81.6 89.5 90.0 82.7 75.0 

 100.6 108.5 109.0 101.7 94.0 

 
5 FEES AND CHARGES 

 
5.8 The budget strategy assumes: 

 Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, Parking, Libraries and Housing 

charges frozen 

 A standard uplift of 3.9% based on the August Retail Price index for other 

charges 

 Case by case review for commercial services that are charged on a for-
profit basis. These will be varied up and down in response to market 
conditions, with relevant Member approval.  

5.2 There are no fees and charges exceptions to report for Childrens services. 

 

6 2018/19 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS 
 

6.8 The administration proposes to freeze the Hammersmith and Fulham’s 
element of 2018/19 Council Tax at £727.81. This will provide a balanced 
budget whilst recognising the burden on local taxpayers. 

Page 70



 
6.9 The Mayor of London’s draft budget is currently out for consultation and is 

due to be presented to the London Assembly on 25th January 2018, with 
final confirmation of precepts on 22nd of February. 
 

6.10 As part of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement the 
government announced that authorities can charge a 3% adult social care 
precept. The Council does not wish to apply this tax to residents, so it does 
not form part of the 2018/19 budget proposals. 
 

6.11 Following last year’s council tax freeze, the current Band D Council Tax 
charge of £1,007.83 (LBHF element £727.81 and GLA £280.02) is the 3rd 
lowest in England. In cash terms, the Band D charge for the Hammersmith 
and Fulham element is at its lowest since it was £706.83 in 1999/2000. 

 
7 Comments of the Executive Director for Children’s Services on the Budget 

Proposals 

7.1 The department’s approach to identifying potential savings has been consistent 
with the vision for Children’s Services which is: 

  
 ‘To improve the lives and life chances of our children and young people; 

intervene early to give the best start in life and promote wellbeing; ensure 
children and young people are protected from harm; and that all children have 
access to an excellent education and achieve their potential. All of this will be 
done whilst reducing costs and improving service effectiveness.’ 

  
 This has been key to developing a number of lines of enquiry that seeks to 

protect services to the most vulnerable members of the community within the 
statutory provisions required of the department. 
  

7.2 The department seeks to do this through an innovative approach to service 
delivery that will seek to work with current service providers and groups in the 
community, to restructure how we deliver services, but protecting and improving 
services for families.  

7.3 The Department’s Net Expenditure budget for 2018/19 is £47.169m. Within this 
sum are a number of areas over which the department has no control, these are 
defined as indirect expenditure and include contributions to corporate services 
and capital charges. In total these add up to £10.419m. This means that the net 
direct expenditure that the department is in control of is £36.749m. The table 
below sets out how expenditure is incurred across the various activities within the 
department showing that the majority of expenditure is on Social Care, £29.023m 
(79%) of net direct expenditure. 

 
  

Page 71



Table 7 – Children’s Services Controllable budget 
  

CHS Spend Categories 
2018-19 Direct 
Controllable 

Budget (£'000s) 

Identify, Assess, Intervene Early, Inform & Sign Post                    3,520  

Child Protection & Support in Community                    7,732  

Care of Looked After Children                  11,513  

Post Care Support                    6,258  

Education                    3,552  

Commissioning                    2,392  

Finance & Resources                    1,782  

Total                 36,749  

 

 
    

7.4 Social care spend is primarily made up of staffing and placement costs. Appendix 
3 provides an analysis of placements spend from 2015-16 to the current position 
in 2017-18. An estimate of 2018-19 spend has also been provided which shows 
where costs are escalating due to an increase in high cost, complex cases 
demonstrated by the increase in average weekly cost per FTE. 
 

7.5 The Commissioning budget of £2.392m includes £1.012m on Youth Services. 
  

7.6 The Education budget of £3.552m includes £0.517m spend on School Standards 
and £2.981m on Special Educational Needs passenger transport. 

7.7 Savings totalling £2.086m have been identified for 2018/19 and are set out in 
Appendix 1.  

  

10%

21%

31%

17%

10%

6%
5%

CHS NET CONTROLLABLE BUDGET 18/19

Identify, Assess, Intervene Early,
Inform & Sign Post

Child Protection & Support in
Community

Care for Looked After Children

Post Care Support

Education

Commissioning

Finance & Resources

Page 72



7.8 The savings proposals for Children’s Services will seek not only to protect front-
line services and to continue to offer a service appropriate to local need, but to 
improve our offer to residents facing difficult circumstances such as poverty and 
higher levels of need. The proposals will reduce spending on overhead costs, 
reduce spending on management and reduce duplication.  

  
7.9 At the core of all savings proposals will be services that strengthen families and 

help parents care for their children; whilst steadfastly remaining vigilant with 
regards to our duty of safeguarding vulnerable children and young people; taking 
decisive action to protect those that need it. 

7.10 Appendix 1 details £1.803m growth in 2018/19 for Children’s Services. 
 
8 Equality Implications 

8.1 An Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) assesses the impacts on equality of the main 
items in the budget proposals relevant to this PAC. The draft EIA is attached at 
Appendix 4. A final EIA will be reported to Budget Council. 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
Appendix 1 – Savings and Growth Proposals 
Appendix 2 – Risks 
Appendix 3 – Draft Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 73



Appendix 1 - Growth Savings

Childrens Services

MTFS Growth

Service Description

2018-19 

Budget 

Change 

(£000's)

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Queens Manor Resource 

Centre

Project and specialist resources to develop the service offer of the 

Resource Centre for disabled children and their family 
450 450 450 450

Children's and Adults - Travel 

Care and Support Contract

Extra cost above approved 17/18 growth of £270k.  Approved through 

Leaders Urgency March 2017
344 344 344 344

Education
Developing a world class SEN Service, significantly improving the 

service received by residents
290 290 290 0

Family Services Care Leavers Support 105 85 85 85

Family Services Dubs children (unaccompanied child refugees) 239 298 313 313

Family Services Contact and Assessment Team Management 212 212 212 212

Commissioning Onside Youth Service 0 400 400 400

Education Travel Care & Support 163 163 163 163

1,803 2,242 2,257 1,967

MTFS Savings

Service Description

2018-19 

Budget 

Change 

(£000's)

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Family Services/Commissioning
Integrated Family Support Services (see cabinet report on 10th October 

2016)
Medium (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)

Family Services
Maximising Social Care Effectiveness (see cabinet report on 7th 

November 2016)
Medium (644) (1,248) (1,748) (1,748)

Family Services
Securing social housing placements for vulnerable young people to 

reduce payments to private landlords
Medium (200) (200) (200) (200)

Family Services Efficiencies to Legal Costs Medium (50) (50) (50) (50)

Family Services
Recognising existing budget underspend due to reduced number of 

placements
Low (75) (75) (75) (75)

Education Travel Care and Support – Travel Training Medium (67) (67) (67) (67)

Education Traded Income to Schools – Education Psychology Low (50) (50) (50) (50)

(2,086) (2,690) (3,190) (3,190)

Budget Change

Total Growth

Total Savings

Delivery 

Risk 

(R-A-G) 

Budget Change

P
age 74



Appendix  2 

Departmental Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2018/19 

Value 

(£000's)

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Children's' Services

Tower Hamlets related claims

The likely liability, should all connected 

carers apply for re-imbursement of carers 

fees (in line with the Tower Hamlets 

judgement), as far back as 2011, has been 

estimated to be in the region of £2.1m. 

Three families (6 children) have now brought 

claims via the same solicitors totalling 

£141k, but we continue to hold the risk.

      2,100       2,100       2,100       2,100 

Looked After Children

New high cost placements. Recent cases 

have occurred in 2017-18 with annual costs 

of up to £0.360m. 

      1,000       1,000       1,000       1,000 

Children with disabilities New high cost placements.  tbc  tbc  tbc  tbc 

Children's' Services Total 3,100 3,100 3,100 3,100 

Risk

P
age 75



  APPENDIX 3 

 
 

DRAFT Equality Impact Analysis (EIA) of main budget proposals for  

2018/19 Childrens Services 

Savings Proposals 

Key Protected Characteristics: Disability, Maternity and Pregnancy, Age, Race, 

Religion, Gender. 

There remains an aim within the Council to ensure required savings take place 

alongside innovative and improved service delivery wherever possible. Where 

individual savings relate to staffing efficiencies, re-procurements or other major 

programmes, appropriate procedures will ensure equality impacts are assessed and 

responded to. A number of the developments described have already been subject 

to a detailed EIA or will be carried out at a point at which these implications can be 

fully assessed.    

Family Services. £1.969m 

Key Protected Characteristics: Disability, Age, Race, Religion, Gender. 

Family Services and Cross Cutting 

Savings 

H&F 2018/19 Savings 

Maximising Social Care Effectiveness £0.644m 

Integrated Family Support Services £1.000m 

Securing social housing placements for 

vulnerable young people 

£0.200m 

Efficiencies to Legal Costs £0.050m 

Reduced need for adoption placements due 

to keeping families together  

£0.075m 

Family Services continue to improve services with an increasing focus on family 

preservation approaches which enable more children to remain with their families. 

This has a significant and positive impact upon overall outcomes for children and the 

cost of supporting them. This complements the wide ranging Focus on Practice 

programme which is providing the workforce with additional skills to maximise their 

potential to secure effective and sustainable change, reducing re-referrals and 

escalating children through the system where required. This will build upon a locally 

developed approach to intensive working with families which has demonstrated its 

effectiveness in diverting children from care.  

Work undertaken in relation to housing for vulnerable young people, aims to provide 

an increased and improved range of cost effective local accommodation options 

closer to their families, community and support services, and incudes those with key 

protected characteristics and some of the most marginalised and stigmatised young 

people e.g. complex needs and disabilities, Care Leavers and young mothers. A 

number of potential properties have been identified for development with good 

Page 76



  APPENDIX 3 

 
 

quality low cost semi-independent living accommodation for Care Leavers becoming 

available from early 2018. 

A number of initiatives under the Children’s Social Care Effectiveness programme 

(e.g. edge of care resource, specialist adolescent service, increasing time for social 

work practice, early identification) are ensuring that the quality and timeliness of 

interventions are not unduly and adversely disrupting the family lives of already 

economically disadvantaged and vulnerable residents, and by a ‘right service right 

time’ approach avoiding unnecessary escalation of need and cost. This helps 

improve the lives and outcomes of individuals spanning a diverse range of protected 

characteristics including a marked comparative prevalence of single mother 

households in the referral profile to Children’s Social Care and outlier national and 

London-wide performance in relation to adolescents who are excluded from school, 

enter the Criminal Justice System and become Looked After. Impact to date includes 

a reduced rate of 10-17 year olds entering care, a decreased spend on placements 

of 670k from 16/17, and as at end of Q2, pro-rata savings targets being met.  

In addition, there will be further exploration of opportunities to reduce spend on legal 

costs associated with proceedings in the Family Courts, changing the balance of 

which services are provided and when to avoid unnecessary costs. Because of 

ongoing strategies to reduce the number of children entering care, there are already 

robust monitoring processes in place which will track the impact upon relevant 

protected characteristics. It is known that 72% of the borough’s current looked after 

children are from BAME backgrounds so it will be important to monitor whether 

children in this cohort equally benefit from the positive impact of being supported to 

remain with or return to their birth families where appropriate. Baselines are available 

and it is anticipated that the demand management programme will have a positive 

impact upon older children who are also currently overrepresented. 

Family Services and Children’s Commissioning are in the process of redesigning 

universal and targeted services as part of a whole system service strategy with 

specialist services. This will lead to integration of practice and workforces across a 

range of family and health services, budgets and the different thresholds of support 

provided. 

Alongside this a number of savings are planned to existing early help services from 

2017/18 as part of the first stage of Integrated Family Support. Management savings 

have been identified and efficiencies in the management of youth provision made 

through better systems and processes rather than through reducing levels of 

services to local children and families (and hence with no equality impacts 

expected).  

An EQIA was completed for the Family Support Services as part of the March 2017 

Cabinet paper.  Further service design work has been completed for Phase 1 which 

continues to focus on strengthening existing service provision and realising savings 

through service integration and reduced duplication.  Following transfer, an updated 

EQIA will be completed as a collaborative process with the new FSS management 

team, ahead of further savings being realised. 

Page 77



  APPENDIX 3 

 
 

  

Page 78



  APPENDIX 3 

 
 

Education and Schools. £0.117m 

Key Protected Characteristics: Disability, Age, Race, Religion, Gender. 

Education and Disability Savings H&F 2018/19 Savings 

Travel Care and Support – Travel Training £0.067m 

Traded Income to Schools – Education 

Psychology 

£0.050m 

 

The need to make further savings has been lessened by income generation from 

Educational Psychology traded services. These actions have been assessed against 

the equality impact criteria and it has been concluded that there will be a neutral 

impact on equalities. 

Development of an independent travel training programme will provide some young 

people who have special educational needs (some of whom will have the protected 

characteristic of disability) with the confidence to travel alone, enhancing their 

independence and access to opportunities while reducing the costs which result from 

specialist travel arrangements. It is therefore anticipated that the equality impact of 

this will be positive. 

Growth Proposals. £1.861m  

Children’s Services Budget Growth 2018/19 Proposed H&F 2018/19 

Growth 

Queens Manor Resource Centre - develop the service in co-production 

with partners and families. 

£0.450m 

SEN Service Enhancement £0.290m 

Travel Care and Support Service Arrangements - Change the existing 

delivery arrangements to improve service standards and sovereign 

accountability. 

£0.507m 

Council tax allowance for care leavers (allowed for within councgil tax 

base report 

£0.058m 

Care Leavers Support £0.105m 

DUBs £0.239m 

Contact and Assessment Team Management £0.212m 

 

Planned growth will impact upon two cohorts of children, young people with 

disabilities and those who are looked after children or care leavers. The development 

of The Queens Manor resource centre for children with disabilities will provide a new, 

specialist service offer including additional early intervention and targeted provision. 

The centre will contribute to plans to avoid unnecessarily placing children who have 

Page 79



  APPENDIX 3 

 
 

the protected characteristic of disability away from their families out of borough and 

support better transitions to adulthood and relevant local services where required.  

The creation of a sovereign Special Education Needs and Disability Service as a 

result of the Moving On agenda delivers the opportunity to transform the delivery of 

services for children and young people with Special Educational Needs, most of 

whom are disabled.  The Children and Families Act requires whole life pathway 

planning from effective early intervention (to improve support to families and improve 

outcomes as point of diagnosis in turn to reduce the need for expensive longer term 

interventions), inclusion and timely support in education provision, co-production with 

parents and young people (a key finding of the Hammersmith and Fulham Disability 

Commission), effective planning for adulthood with a focus on planning for 

independence and employment with reduced reliance on support from adult social 

care for many and effective transition into adult services when necessary.  The 

service enhancements build on the Early Support and Early Intervention model to 

deliver longer term benefits and improved outcomes.  These service enhancements 

will deliver significant improvements to children and young adults with disabilities and 

their carers whose rights are also protected. 

The Council is committed to improving travel care and support which is a statutory 

service provided to the most vulnerable children, young people and adults in the 

borough. It introduced the London Living Wage, disaggregating from shared services 

and improving quality elements of the specification. The result of this commitment 

has had a direct and beneficial impact on outcomes and services for children and 

young people as retention rates have increased, schools and day services have 

given consistent positive feedback, and the service to parents and carers has been 

continuous. 

A new department is being created – Public Services Reform. This will encompass 

all transformation, innovation, commissioning and strategy development across Adult 

Social Care, Children’s Services, Public Health and corporate transformation. This 

new department will support, reform and revitalise services for residents in our 

borough. Through a whole-system model, we will deliver outcomes, lead service and 

corporate transformation, and improve efficiency and financial value across the 

council.  

Meanwhile there are planned developments of services for looked after children and 

care leavers including improvements to services for unaccompanied asylum seeking 

children, provision of support until the age of 25 and introduction of a council tax 

allowance for care leavers who are resident in the borough. All of these will 

contribute to an enhanced service offer for a group of young people within which the 

protected characteristics of race and disability are overrepresented.  

 

Conclusion on impact on the budget for Childrens Services 

The majority of the savings proposals have a neutral equalities impact. The focus on 

family preservation and reducing the number of children entering care is likely to 

Page 80



  APPENDIX 3 

 
 

have a positive equalities impact as 72% of the borough’s looked after children are 

from BAME backgrounds. 

There are no predicted negative equalities impacts arising from changes proposed 

for schools. It is likely that the independent travel programme will continue to have a 

positive equalities impact.  

The department’s growth proposals are likely, primarily, to have either a positive 

equalities impact, with a few instances of neutral equalities impact. The continued 

development of the Queens Manor Resource centre, the SEN service enhancement, 

the improvement to travel care and support and the enhanced service offer for care 

leavers will all have a positive equalities impact. 

Page 81



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION 
POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
29 January 2018 

 

 

LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL REPORT 
 

Report of the Director for Children’s Services – Steve Miley 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Steve Miley, Director for Children’s Services 
 

Report Author: 
Helen Farrell, Assistant Director for 
Looked after Children and Care Leavers 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 7641 5341 
hfarrell@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report highlights the significant responsibilities the local authority has in 

relation to Looked After Children and Care Leavers, and how it discharges 
these. 

 
1.2 Looked After Children numbers have increased nationally from 2013 to 2017 

by 7% and at 31st March 2017 there were 72,670 Looked After Children 
nationally. In contrast, regionally London rates have decreased by -7% with 
the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham seeing a -9% decrease over 
the same time period. The low numbers in Hammersmith & Fulham place 
them in the lowest quartile of the 152 local authorities nationally at 31st March 
2017. However, this is also in line with other key data sets including children 
subject to child protection and child in need plans. 
 

1.3 Generally, outcomes for Looked After Children across the UK are poorer than 
those who have not been in care, partly due to earlier life experiences, 
attachment and psychological difficulties and any disruptions in placements. 
However, children in care often make progress in comparison than if they had 
not entered care, even if their outcomes are overall not as positive than peers 
who do not have any care history. It is therefore essential for any looked after 
child that their progress is tracked from the point that they enter care. Despite 
the good work and dedication of professionals and carers, challenges still 

Page 82

Agenda Item 8

mailto:hfarrell@westminster.gov.uk


remain in improving the experiences and outcomes for this group of children. 
Locally, we closely monitor the profile and outcomes of our care population in 
order to effectively plan services. Section 4 outlines the profile of our current 
care population, Section 5 focuses specifically on Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children (UASC) and Sections 6, 10 and 11 highlight Hammersmith 
and Fulham’s strategic priorities for Looked After Children services and future 
developments in services. The other sections highlight outcomes for looked 
after children and care leavers. 

 

2. INTRODUCTION  
 
2.1 In this report, the term Looked After Children refers to those children for whom 

the Borough has assumed Parental Responsibility through a care order, by an 
agreement with their parent(s) or Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children. 
 

2.2 The Borough also has a duty and responsibility to those young people who 
leave care after the age of 16 years until they reach the age of 25 following 
the legislative changes that were introduced within the Children and Social 
Work Act 2017. Previously the duty was until 21 years for Care Leavers not in 
education. 
 

2.3 The majority of Looked After Children need alternative care and 
accommodation due to the inability of their primary care giver to offer safe and 
effective care within the family home. Many Looked After Children are able to 
return to their parent(s) or extended family members speedily and do not 
require long term services or interventions. Many who remain in care are likely 
to have suffered neglect or abuse, prior to coming into our care, and are likely 
to require support from a range of services including into adulthood.  
 

3. CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
3.1 Corporate Parenting is the term used to refer to the collective responsibility of 

the Council to provide the best care and protection for children and young 
people who are ‘looked after’, that is, who are in public care. Effective 
corporate parenting will need the commitment from all Council employees and 
elected Members and an authority wide approach. These responsibilities for 
Local Authorities were first laid out in the Children Act 1989, the Children Act 
2004 and reinforced in the Children and Young People’s Act 2008 and most 
recently in the Children and Social Work Act 2017. The most recent legislation 
sets out seven corporate parenting principles that all Councils must adhere to 
for children in care and care leavers to ensure that their needs are met and 
life chances promoted. 
 

3.2 Councillors in the Borough have a responsibility to act as a good ‘corporate 
parent’ for the children it looks after. Once a child becomes Looked After all 
Members and officers of the Council, as their corporate parents, need to be 
concerned about that child as if they were their own. This concern should 
encompass the child’s education, health and welfare, what they do in their 
leisure time and holidays, how they celebrate their culture or religion and how 
they receive praise and encouragement for their achievements.  

Page 83



 
3.3 The Corporate Parenting Board (CPB) has a key role in monitoring how the 

Council discharges its corporate parenting responsibilities. Over the past year, 
the Board has continued to meet with young people who are member of the 
Children in Care Council to listen to their views and consultation feedback on 
a quarterly basis. Consultation activities with Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers are aligned to the key objectives in the three-year strategy and 
annual service improvement plan. Section 10 provides an overview of topics 
consulted upon during 2016-17. 

 
4. NUMBERS OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN  
 
4.1 Nationally, there were 72,670 children and young people in care on 31st March 

2017, compared with 70,440 at the same point in 2016. This represents a 3% 
increase. This national figure remains the highest figure of children in care 
since the implementation of the Children Act 1989.  
 

4.2 The Borough’s Looked After Children population has overall reduced from 260 
in 2008 to 215 in 2017, although there has been an increase including citizen 
children entering care during 2015-16 and 2016-17 (see Table 2). The number 
of Looked After Children as a proportion of the population in Hammersmith & 
Fulham is 61 per 10,000 population as at 31st March 2017, higher than the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea at 28 per 10,000 population and 
Westminster City Council (41 per 10,000). The Borough is becoming 
increasingly adept at securing alternative solutions outside the care system for 
Looked After Children, with the number of children leaving care varying from 
115 in 2011-12 to 155 in 2013-14, and 99 in 2016-17. 

 

Table 1: Total Looked After Children Ceasing Care 

 
4.3 The overall reduction in numbers of children in care since 2010 is attributed to 

several factors. We have invested in significant training to support 
practitioners across the service to work more effectively with families. A core 
objective of this initiative is to reduce the numbers of children care and we 
believe we are seeing early indicators of this effect. Additionally, the range of 
services provided to support families and avoid adolescent care entry, robust 
rehabilitation home support packages when it is assessed that it is safe for 
children to return to live at home, alternatives to remand being implemented 
by the Youth Courts and significantly improved timescales for care 
proceedings resulting in timely permanency plans or children being placed 
with extended family members are all considered to have influence this 
reduction. In contrast there has been an increase in the number of 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) entering care linked to 
Hammersmith and Fulham’s commitment to caring for additional Dubs 
Amendment UASC alongside those who self-present or placed as part of the 
National Transfer Scheme. During 2016-17, 25 new UASCs became looked 

Year April to March  2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Number of children ceasing care 100 115 95 155 120 108 99 

Page 84



after by the Borough. This represented 28% of the new 14-17-year-old care 
entrants in this year and contributes to the majority of Looked After Children 
being aged 10 and over. Section 5 considers the UASC population in greater 
detail. 

 

Year Ending March Citizen UASC Total 

2010 234 26 260 

2011 227 21 248 

2012 204 20 224 

2013 220 18 238 

2014 195 9 204 

2015 163 22 185 

2016 172 26 198 

2017 177 38 215 

Table 2: Total Looked After Children at 31 March: 2010-2017 

 

4.4 The age profile of Looked After Children is significant in that the proportion 
aged over 16 for 2016-17 was 42% up from 35% in 2015-16, which is higher 
than the national rate of 22% and London rate of 33%. The Borough’s 
commitment to caring for additional UASC contributes to this variable. 
 
AGE AT 31 MARCH 2017 BOYS GIRLS Total % 

Under 1 year 3 3 6 3% 

Age 1 - 4 years 6 2 8 4% 

Age 5 - 9 years 15 12 27 13% 

Age 10 - 15 years 47 36 83 39% 

Age 16 - 17 years: 59 32 91 42% 

TOTAL 130 85 215   

Table 3: Age Profile of Children in Care at 31st March 2017 

 
4.5 At 31st March 2017 only 7% of children in care were aged under 5 years 

compared with 11% at the same point in 2016. Local analysis has identified a 
number of influencing factors including younger children moving into 
permanence more quickly through reduced timescales within care 
proceedings and more being placed with relatives rather than for adoption 
outside the family, “ageing out” of older cohorts as they progress through the 
care system, UASC particularly those aged 16+ and the impact of Southwark 
Judgement (16-17 year old children identified as homeless and vulnerable) 
and remand cases entering care at much older ages. The chart overleaf 
provides a breakdown of the reasons for new care episodes for 14-17 year 
olds during 2016-17. This cohort represents 54 children, of which the highest 
proportion entered care due to Safeguarding/Family breakdown (31 children, 

Page 85



59%). A significant proportion of this cohort do not remain looked after longer 
term and return to live again with their families following interventions being 
provided to address safeguarding concerns, conflict and dynamics. UASC 
accounted for 28% (15 children) of new adolescent care entrants. During 
2016-17 the proportion of entries to care due to Court Remands remained 
steady at 11% (6 children) compared with 9% (5 children) during 2015-16. 
The most recently published national data on the reasons for entries to care 
was for 2015-16 which indicates that Court Remands attributed to 3% of 
entries to care in England and 5% in London. 

 
Entry to care status Number of young people 

aged 14 to 17 years 
% 

Remand 6 11% 

Respite 1 2% 

Safeguarding 31 58% 

UASC 15 28% 

Total entries to care during 2016-17 aged 
14 to 17 years 

53 

  

Table 4: Profile of 14-17 years olds entering care during 2016-17 

 
4.6 Hammersmith and Fulham’s Looked After Children population is particularly 

diverse. Rates for children identified as Black or Black British ethnicity 
accounted for 33% of Looked After Children in 2016-17 which is higher than 
the most recently published (2015-16) national average at 25%. The Council 
continues to respond by seeking to recruit a diverse range of foster carers 
which reflect the diversity of the local population and through placing children 
with kinship carers when appropriate.  
 

5. UNACCOMPANIED ASYLUM SEEKING CHILDREN  
 
5.1 On 1st July 2016 the Home Office launched the National Transfer Scheme, a 

new voluntary transfer arrangement between local authorities for the care of 
unaccompanied children who arrive in the UK and claim asylum. The scheme 
has identified that local authorities will be expected to take up to 0.07% of 
their child population. The intention of this scheme is that any new UASC 
entering England and Wales are distributed more evenly amongst local 
authorities rather than primarily concentrating within London and the South 
East by virtue of where they enter the country and seek asylum. As such 
Hammersmith and Fulham is expected to be responsible for 24 UASC and 
when we fall below that threshold new UASC will be referred via the London 
rota referral or National Transfer Scheme. In addition, Hammersmith and 
Fulham has given a commitment to caring for a higher number of UASC under 
the Dubs Amendment. To date, an additional 14 children have been cared for 
by the local authority as part of this amendment, mainly following the 
dismantling of the camps in Calais in October 2016. Hammersmith and 
Fulham social work staff proactively visited the camps in order to assist with 
assessment of children there and to support their transfer to the UK.  
 

Page 86



5.2 As a result of the aforementioned commitment Hammersmith and Fulham 
took responsibility for an increased number of newly arrived unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children (UASC) during 2016-17. Over the year 25 new UASC 
became looked after in comparison with 19 young people in 2014-15 and 20 
young people in 2015-16. Nearly half of the current UASC and former UASC 
care leaver population have arrived within the last two years.  
 

As at 31st March 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

UASC Numbers 15 9 22 26 38 

Table 5: UASC Numbers as at 31 March 2012-17 

 

5.3 During 2016-17 there was a notably shift in the country of origin for new 
UASC care entrants in Hammersmith and Fulham. Over a number of previous 
years, Albanian young people accounted for the majority of UASC. In contrast 
during the last year the majority of new UASC have originated from 
Afghanistan (32%) and Sudan (16%). This is set against the London trend 
where Albanian and Vietnamese children remain the highest volume of newly 
arrived UASC.  

 

Country of origin Number of 
young people 

% 

Afghanistan 8 32% 

Albania 2 8% 

Armenia 1 4% 

Algeria 1 4% 

Egypt 1 4% 

Eritrea 3 12% 

Ethiopia 1 4% 

Iran 2 8% 

Pakistan 1 4% 

Sudan 4 16% 

Syria 1 4% 

Total UASC entries into care during 2016-17 25   

Table 6: Number of UASC entering care in 2016-17 by country of origin 

 
5.4 There is notable consistency in the age of UASC on arrival with the vast 

majority of the total current UASC population (32 of 38, 82%) aged between 
14-17 years at 31st March 2017, although we do occasionally experience 
much younger children arriving. Given these age trends, the UASC population 
have a significant bearing on the Borough’s care leaver numbers. At 31st 
March 2017, 58 of 189 (31%) of the Borough’s Care Leavers were former 
UASCs. Legal outcomes are characterised by lengthy processes including 
several Home Office interviews and legal hearings. A number of UASC are 
ultimately unsuccessful in their claims for asylum into adulthood and this can 
have some bearing on UASC going missing as a means of avoiding 
deportation. Negative asylum claims in recent years have related to the 
majority of UASC originating from Albania and the Home Office concluding 
that they have not proven genuine persecution. No former-UASC were 
deported during the last year and Hammersmith and Fulham financially 

Page 87



supported several former-UASC in appealing negative Home Office decisions 
and submitting applications for further periods of leave to remain. The largest 
number exit care by receiving their permanent or long term leave to remain 
and exiting the service in the same way as citizen children. Former UASC 
care leavers continue to be supported by the Leaving Care Service whilst they 
await a decision by the Home Office in line with our statutory obligations. 
 

5.5 UASC experience a range of physical and emotional difficulties as a result of 
prolonged journeys in insanitary conditions with inadequate supplies of food 
and water and/or what they might have been subjected to in their home 
countries prior to leaving. The effects of separation, bereavement and 
uncertainty about their families’ wellbeing and own immigration status can 
have a negative emotional impact on UASC children and young people. There 
is extensive use of agents and smugglers to assist UASC in making their 
journeys and in a minority of cases there are disclosures of ill-treatment during 
their journey. These range of needs are addressed through their LAC Health 
Assessments and involving LAC CAMHS and our in-house clinicians as 
appropriate. 

 
6. STRATEGIC PLANNING  
 
6.1 A three-year strategy for Looked After Children continues to be implemented 

which sets out the vision and intended outcomes for Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers for the period 2014 to 2017. A new strategy will be 
developed and launched once the legislative changes arising from the 
Children and Social Work Act 2017 are finalised given these changes will 
have an impact on a numbers of service delivery strands. 

 
6.2 The current strategy has six strategic objectives: 

 Children on the edge of care are better supported to remain within their 
families and community. 

 Looked After Children and Care Leavers are provided with security, 
stability and are cared for. 

 Looked After Children and Care Leavers are safe from harm and neglect.  

 Looked After Children and Care Leavers are supported in reaching a good 
standard of education. 

 Looked After Children and Care Leavers health needs are promoted and 
supported. 

 All Looked After Children and Care Leavers have a voice in decisions 
which affect their lives.  

   
6.3 To support the delivery of the strategic priorities an annual Looked After 

Children and Care Leavers service improvement plan is developed and 
delivered with partners including Health, Education and the Youth Offending 
Service. The plan is monitored and further developed in response to the 
issues and recommendations that children and young people make as part of 
quarterly consultations and related activity and decisions arising from 
consultations within the Corporate Parenting Board.  
 

Page 88



6.4 The CEPAC Scrutiny Committee also contributes to monitoring the quality and 
effectiveness of services, via the scrutiny of this annual report on services and 
outcomes for Looked After Children and Care Leavers. A report on the work of 
the Fostering and Adoption Team is also presented annually.  

 
6.5 Other relevant performance indicators are reported regularly to the Lead 

Member at Cabinet Board. 
 
6.6 Preparations are underway in advance of implementing changes arising from 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017 which come into effect in April 2018. 
The key elements specific to children in care includes extending corporate 
parenting duties to Care Leavers up to 25 years irrespective of educational 
status, including the allocation of a Personal Advisor, introducing 7 Corporate 
Parenting principles that Councils must adhere to, producing and advertising a 
Local Offer that outlines Care Leaver entitlements and extending the advice 
and support provided by Virtual Schools for children previously looked after 
but now placed for adoption or under special guardianship orders. Although 
we are awaiting formal guidance to be issued by the DfE, projections have 
been completed regarding the increased number of Care Leavers that will 
remain open or potentially return requesting a service and the associated 
impact on placement costs and staffing. A consultation will be completed with 
Looked After Children and Care Leavers regarding the Local Offer, their views 
on needs, priorities and gaps and platforms for publishing this. These 
legislative changes have been introduced to take account that adults that 
have previously been in care are some of the most disadvantaged and 
vulnerable in society. Extending the duties and support to older care leavers 
seeks to take account of this and also acknowledges that children raised 
within their families typically continue to seek parental advice and support for 
a number of years as they navigate early adulthood. 

   
7. SAFEGUARDING OUTCOMES FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND 

CARE LEAVERS 
 
7.1 Children who are subject to frequent placement moves are less able to form 

positive attachments with carers which make them more vulnerable to unsafe 
relationships from other adults or their peer group. The Borough has a 
commitment to ensure that children and young people will only be placed in 
resources with an Ofsted inspection judgement of Good or Outstanding.  As at 
31st March 2017, 90% of children placed by Hammersmith & Fulham were in 
provisions that were judged as Outstanding or Good. The number of 
placement moves that children have is carefully monitored to ensure plans are 
adapted to make placements more resilient where required and that children 
and carers are given tailored support to address individual needs. In 
Hammersmith & Fulham 8% (15 children) of Looked After Children had 
experienced three or more placement moves during their care period, which is 
below the England rate of 10% (current available data for 2015-16) and also 
an improvement from 2015-16 when it was 14% (28 children). Likewise, there 
has been an improvement in the percentage of under 16s remaining in the 
same placement for at least 2 years which further evidences on-going 
progress in achieving placement stability. 

Page 89



 

 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

 
England 

11.0% 11.0% 12.0% 10% 10% 
Not yet 

available 

 
LBHF 

8.0% 5.9% 19.5% 9.2% 14.1% 8% 

Table 7: Percentage of children with three or more placements during 2011- 17 
 

 
2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

 
England 

68.0% 67.0% 67% 68% 68% 
Not yet 

available 

 
LBHF 

74.6% 66.2% 61.3% 59.7% 78.2% 81% 

Table 8:  Percentage of Looked After Children under 16 years in the same placement 
for at least 2 years 

 
7.2 As a geographically small borough, not all Looked After Children are able to 

live within Hammersmith and Fulham when they are in care. However, there 
are significant efforts at both the local and national level to reduce the 
distance at which Looked After Children are placed from their borough of 
origin and Hammersmith and Fulham has actively sought to reduce the 
number of children placed outside London where appropriate. In 2011-12 
there were 54 children placed outsider Greater London compared with 42 in 
2016-17. While there are a small minority of children who are more effectively 
safeguarded by being placed at a distance such as those young people 
identified to be at risk due to gang affiliation or child sexual exploitation (CSE), 
the consistent lack of foster placements in Inner London means that many 
children need to be placed in other local authority areas, although usually 
these are within London. The cohort living outside of London includes children 
who are placed in special educational boarding schools or specialist 
residential care or placed with extended family members or adopters. Of the 
children and young people Looked After in foster placements at 31st March 
2017, 76% were placed in London boroughs, including within Hammersmith 
and Fulham, and 73% were placed with Shared Services in-house foster 
carers. As at 31st March 2017, 67% of the Borough’s Looked After Children 
were living inside Hammersmith and Fulham, an improvement from 59% in 
2015-16. This compares with 45% of Looked After Children living inside their 
borough of origin on average across other London authorities. Additionally, 
there are currently 9 Hammersmith and Fulham Care Leavers who continue to 
live with foster carers under a “Staying Put” arrangement, an initiative which 
enables care leavers to continue to live in their foster placement when they 
become young adults to support them in achieving successful transitions into 
adulthood. 
 

7.3 For some young people foster care is not currently suitable and as of 31st 
March 2017, 10% of Looked After Children were placed in residential care or 
special educational boarding schools. We also have 111 children placed with 
relatives who have either been assessed as kinship foster carers (19 children) 
or under Special Guardianship Orders (92 children), thus enabling these 
children to reside with relatives rather than outside the family and some of 
these children account for those not residing in London. In contrast, the 

Page 90



number of adoptions in Hammersmith and Fulham has continued to decline to 
4 in 2016-17 compared with 12 in 2014-15 and 6 in 2015-16, although this 
mirrors a national reduction (18% reduction in 2015-16) in children being 
placed for adoption outside the extended family linked to the impact of two 
relevant court judgements. 

 
 % of children placed in foster placements 

England 75% 

London 75% 

Hammersmith and Fulham 73% 

Table 9: Percentage of children placed in foster placements at 31st March 2017 

 
7.4 Looked After Children are at greater risk of going missing than their peers due 

to their turbulent life experiences, and are therefore vulnerable to Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE). Children with frequent placement moves, more fragile 
attachments and late care entrants are more likely to go missing and this 
behaviour in turn impacts upon the stability of any new placements. In 
Hammersmith and Fulham, there were 32 Looked After Children who went 
missing with a total of 134 episodes in 2016-17, which includes a small 
number of individual young people who had frequent repeat missing episodes 
often over a short duration or overnight. Whilst there was a decrease in the 
number of children when compared with 2015-16 (37 children) there was an 
increase in the number of episodes from 124 in 2015-16. Whilst we track 
missing incidents carefully and seek to skilfully assess and address causal 
factors into why young people go missing, of the 32 young people that went 
missing the majority were for short periods overnight rather than for longer 
periods where there is evidence of them experiencing significant harm. A 
robust monitoring and tracking system is in place that provides high levels of 
scrutiny, ensures management oversight and that missing children are visited 
and interviewed in order to address any potential safeguarding concerns 
children may be encountering either within or outside their placement. 
Practice has specifically developed in this area, which has been enhanced by 
the continued appointment of a Missing Person’s Co-ordinator who offers 
advice, further scrutiny and the development of strategies to reduce risks with 
front line practitioners.  
 

7.5 With specific reference to children at risk of CSE there continue to be a 
number of monitoring and practice systems in place to identify those assessed 
to be at risk and to provide a comprehensive support package to ensure that 
risks are reduced. This includes monthly Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation 
(MASE) meetings chaired by the Police and Children’s Services, a shared risk 
assessment tool, a common pathway to services coordinated through the 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), clear data sets and problem profiles, 
a range of training and awareness-raising initiatives and a CSE lead. 
 

7.6 Currently (as at November 2017) the Hammersmith and Fulham has a total of 
58 children identified at risk of CSE and these children are categorised 
following an assessment regarding how serious the risk and evidence is. With 
specific reference to looked after children there are currently sixteen children 
assessed to be at risk of CSE – 12 in Category Blue, 2 in Category 1 and 2 in 

Page 91



Category 2. This is in comparison to 9 Looked After Children where there 
were CSE concerns at the same point last year and 7 in 2014-15. This steady 
increase relates to improved identification of risks, assessment and 
interviewing skills and clearer CSE mapping and proactively bringing 
adolescents into local authority care where there are concerns about CSE, 
them going missing and their families struggling to safeguard them. Of those 
16 young people 11 are not living within the Shared Services geographical 
boundary, which partly demonstrates actively removing them from risk factors 
that escalate concerns but also that this cohort can also be at greater risk of 
placement breakdown and escalation into higher cost placements outside 
London. 

 

LBHF BLUE Cat 1 Cat 2 Total 

CIN 11 5  16 

CP 2 2 1 5 

LAC - Living within Shared Services area 4 1 0 5 

LAC - Living outside Shared Services area 8 1 2 11 

Other 10 10 1 21 

Grand Total 35 19 4 58 

 Table 10: CSE Categories Data for Looked After Children 2016-17 

 
7.7 Under the Care Act 2014, implemented in April 2015, local authorities now 

have a duty to conduct tailored individual transition assessments. This is 
where there is a likely need for care and support when the young person turns 
18 and when that assessment would be of significant benefit. Statutory 
guidance cites some examples relevant to the care leaving population for 
those young people: 

 whose needs have been largely met by their educational institution, but 
who, once they leave, will require their needs to be met in some other way 
(e.g. those with autism, learning disabilities); 

 detained in the youth justice system who will move to adult custodial 
services and  

 receiving child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) who may 
also require care and support as adults even if they did not receive 
children’s services from their local authority.  
 

The Act also makes enquiries to safeguard adults a statutory duty, if they are 
thought to be at risk.  

 
8. HEALTH OUTCOMES FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN  
 
8.1 Looked After Children and young people share the same health risks and 

difficulties as their peers but often to a greater degree. They often enter care 
with a worse level of health than their peers in part due to the impact of abuse, 
neglect and chaotic parenting and for unaccompanied minors the impact of 
living in countries where there is conflict and extreme poverty. In addition, 
these children are more likely to be exposed to the consequences of greater 
social deprivation and disadvantage. A key role for social workers, foster 
carers and LAC nurses is to educate and support Looked After Children and 

Page 92



Care Leavers around healthy eating, exercise and dental care and address 
any areas of concern. 
 

8.2 Local authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that health assessments are 
carried out for every Looked After Child in their care. Of the 135 eligible 
children (who have been in care for a year) 98% were carried out on time 
which represents an improvement from 89% in 2015-16. This performance is 
due in part to the implementation of a reminder system for social workers to 
refer for health assessment, and increased outreach work by the specialist 
nurses for children and young people placed out of borough. Some older 
Looked After Children are unwilling to have their medicals despite best efforts 
for these to take place. 
 

8.3 The Local Authority should act as a ‘good parent’ in relation to the health of 
Looked After Children. Within that role it has the right to approve the 
immunisation of children within its care against vaccine preventable diseases 
as per the national immunisation schedule. This includes a continued drive to 
ensure that young people receive their school leaver booster (diphtheria 
tetanus and polio), to ensure that eligible girls are receiving the human 
papilloma vaccination (HPV) and that unaccompanied minors receive 
immunisations that they missed when living in their country of origin or when 
transient. 98% of children and young people Looked After were up to date 
with immunisations on 31st March 2017 which represents an improvement 
from 89% in 2015-16 and is well above the currently available national data 
(87%).  
 

8.4 Dental health is an integral part of the annual Health Assessment. The Local 
Authority and NHS Trust are required to ensure that children in care receive 
regular check-ups and treatment with a dentist. The positive improvements in 
the number of Looked After Children aged 16 and under who are up to date 
with their dental checks was sustained in 2016-17 with 98% having dental 
checks up from 96% during 2015-16 and 79% during 2014-15.  

 
 

Children who had 
been looked after 

for at least 12 
months at 31st 
March 2017  

Percentage of 
children 
whose 

immunisations 
were up to 

date 

Percentage 
of children 
who had 

their teeth 
checked 

by a 
dentist 

Percentage 
of children 
who had 

their annual 
health 

assessment 

Percentage of 
children aged 5 years 
old or younger at 31st 

March whose 
development 

assessments were up 
to date  

England 2015-16 87% 84% 90% 83% 

London 2015-16 84% 88% 93% 93% 

Hammersmith and 
Fulham 2015-16 

89% 96% 89% 75% 

Hammersmith and 
Fulham 2016-17 

98% 98% 98% 100.0% 

Table 11: Percentage of children with up to date health checks and immunisations 

 
8.5 The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) is a self-report measure 

completed by the children’s carer and is aimed at assessing a child’s 

Page 93



behaviour, emotions and relationships. In 2016-17 the decline continued in the 
number of SDQs completed for Looked After Children with 73% completed 
compared to 84% in 2015-16 and 90% in 2014-15 and is an area requiring 
focus and improvement. A child or young person who reports a high score on 
their SDQ should be referred for further assessment and, where appropriate, 
intervention or treatment by the specialist CAMHS Team. Although the SDQ 
acts as a guide for referring to CAMHS practitioners do refer without this 
questionnaire if they are concerned about a child’s emotional wellbeing or 
mental health. 

 
8.6 Due to the nature of their experiences prior to and whilst looked after, many 

will have poor mental health. This may be in the form of significant emotional, 
psychological or behavioural difficulties. Challenges faced for this cohort are 
that local CAMHS provisions end their involvement and do not follow the 
young person experiencing multiple placement breakdowns caused by 
behavioural issues and yet who are often the most emotionally vulnerable 
requiring therapeutic services. Additionally, a number of Care Leavers do not 
meet the higher thresholds for Adult Mental Health Services but continue to 
have unresolved emotional difficulties requiring input. 
 

8.7 A multi-disciplinary borough-based LAC Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) team, that is co-located with the Council’s Looked After 
Children’s Teams, offers an extensive range of support services for all levels 
of mental health needs in a variety of settings, can work with children placed 
outside the borough and if placement moves/breakdowns result in them 
moving between CCGs and can commission local therapy services for 
children placed at a distance. The LAC CAMHS team have the shared aims of 
maintaining placement stability in order to avoid placement breakdown and 
supporting Looked After Children and their carers to manage transitions 
between placements. Hammersmith and Fulham’s in-house systemic 
clinicians also work directly with Looked After Children, social workers and 
foster carers to address emotional distress. Their service compliments the 
LAC CAMHS provision and enables a larger number of children to receive 
therapeutic interventions. 

 
8.8 During 2016-17, 6% of Looked After Children were reported to be known to 

have a substance misuse issue compared to 7% in 2015-16 and where this is 
identified young people are referred for specialist input to address this.  

 
 
9. EDUCATIONAL OUTCOMES FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN  

 
9.1 Education that encourages high aspirations, positive experiences and 

individual achievement, with minimal disruption, is central to improving 
immediate and long-term outcomes for Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers. Looked After Children and Care Leavers are more likely to face 
significant barriers to education and Hammersmith and Fulham has a 
renewed priority for young people to better support their education and 
improve outcomes to improve the educational achievement.  
 

Page 94



9.2 The Virtual School maintains accurate and up to date information about how 
Looked After Children and Care Leavers are progressing in education and 
takes urgent and individual action when they are not achieving well. There 
were a number of changes in the assessment, marking and reporting 
procedures used by schools and Local Authorities in 2016-17 which should be 
noted:  
 

9.3 The expected standard has been raised and the accountability framework for 
schools has also changed. These changes mean that the expected standard 
this year is higher and not comparable with the expected standard used in 
previous years’ statistics.  

 
9.4 GCSEs in England have been reformed and will be graded with a new scale 

from 9 to 1, with 9 being the highest grade. The new GCSE content is much 
more challenging and fewer grade 9s will be awarded than A*s. English 
Language, English Literature and Maths have already moved onto this new 
grading system, with an additional 20 subjects to follow in 2018 and the 
remaining transitioning by 2019. Local Authorities, such as the Hammersmith 
and Fulham have small cohorts of pupils in each key stage, which often 
change over time. Many Looked After Children in these cohorts come into 
care without prior attainment data, including unaccompanied minors, making it 
difficult to make judgements about the progress of pupils from one Key Stage 
to the next. 
 

9.5 As yet the DfE has not issued clear guidance to Local Authorities as to the 
way educational outcomes for 2017 and beyond should be reported. Virtual 
School Heads are currently in discussions with the DfE as to the most 
appropriate way to report outcomes for Looked After Children. The DfE has 
advised schools and Local Authorities that it would be incorrect and 
misleading to make direct comparisons with previous years’ data given these 
revisions.  
 

9.6 In the last three years Looked After Children and Care Leavers have made 
good progress.  

 2016 and 2017’s GCSE results were well above national averages for 
LAC 

 KS2 results were above national averages for LAC 

 LAC made good progress from particular starting points, e.g.  from the 
point they entered the care system 

 The number of 16 and 17 year olds engaged in education or training is 
high 

 The number of care leavers in Higher Education is significantly above 
national averages 

 
9.7 Detailed analysis of each cohort of pupils in 2016-17 indicates that Looked 

After Children and Care Leavers continue to make good progress in most 
areas. In light of the above context, attention should be paid to individual story 
and progress of each child/young person rather looking at the headline 
outcomes.  
 

Page 95



9.8 Progress and attainment at Key Stage 1 
 
There were 2 pupils in the reporting cohort.  Results at KS1 have significantly 
improved year on year. These figures demonstrate carefully tailored 
interventions were put in place using Pupil Premium to support the improved 
outcomes.   

 

9.9 Progress and attainment at Key Stage 2 
 
There were 3 pupils in the reporting cohort.    

 

 New 
expected 
standard 
Reading 

New expected 
standard Grammar, 

Punctuation and 
Spelling 

New expected 
standard 

Maths 

New expected 
standard in 

all areas 

LBHF LAC 2016-17 
 

33% 33% 33% 33% 

LBHF LAC 2015-16 
 

78% 38% 39% 39% 

National LAC Data 2015-16  

(data for 2016-17 not yet 
released) 

25% 25% 25% 25% 

National data for all pupils 
 

71% 77% 75% 61% 

 
9.10 Initial analysis of this year’s results would appear to show a widening of the 

gap between Looked After Children and all pupils achieving the new expected 
standard in all areas. However, it is important to note the likely impact of the 
new assessment arrangements on Looked After Children. Analysis of prior 
attainment for these pupils at KS1 indicates that the majority would have 
achieved higher results; 66% of this cohort achieved at least a level 2 in all 
areas as KS1. Despite not achieving the expected standard in some areas 
many pupils achieved a scaled score in grammar, punctuation and spelling 
and Maths only a few marks below the expected standard scaled score of 
100.   

 
9.11 The individual context of each pupil needs to be taken into consideration when 

analysing results. The cohort this year was particularly unique, whereby one 
pupil was not entered for SATs due to hospitalisation and one pupil 
experienced a bereavement several weeks before the exams. It should be 
noted that one pupil who is not included in the reporting statistics achieved 
well above the benchmark score of 100 and demonstrates that swift, carefully 
tailored interventions can have huge impact.   
 

9.12 All of the pupils experienced some form of disruption or difficulty over the 
previous 2 years; all three have had 1 or more placement moves in the last 2 

KS1 New expected 

standard Reading 

New expected standard 

Writing 

New expected standard  

Maths 

LBHF  LAC 

2 pupils 
100% 100% 100% 

Page 96



years, indicating the significant impact of placement instability on education 
outcomes.  One pupil was hospitalised for a considerable length of time and 
now attends a special day residential school and one pupil is on an SEN 
support plan and is being well supported in a mainstream setting. All pupils 
received the support of the Virtual School and had an up to date PEP.  Close 
collaboration between professionals has ensured that the majority of pupils 
are now in more stable care and school placements. There is evidence that 
Pupil Premium was used to good effect to improve progress.  There remains 
work to be done with schools to ensure they are equipped with effective 
strategies to support these pupils effectively in KS3 and KS4. 

 
9.13 Progress and Attainment at Key Stage 4 
 
9.14 It is difficult to compare this year's grades to previous years due to the 

introduction of numbered grades instead of lettered grades for English 
Literature, English Language and Mathematics. The educational background 
of many LAC makes this a complicated procedure; many LAC do not have 
prior attainment data or arrive into care during KS3 or KS4 making it very 
difficult give an accurate score.  The Virtual School is still in the process of 
finalising these figures, therefore for the benefit of this report the old 
performance measures has been used. 

 
9.15 There were 18 pupils in the reporting cohort. 
 
 5 A-C including 

English and Maths 
5 A-C 5 A-G 1 A-G 

LBHF LAC 2017 28% 25% 67% 83% 

LBHF LAC 2016 15% 15% 55% 75% 

National LAC Data 2015-16 (data 
for 2016-17 not yet released) 

13.6% Not yet 
available 

Not yet 
available 

Not yet 
available 

 
9.16 Initial analysis indicates a significant increase in the percentage who 

achieved 5 GCSE grades A* to C including English and Maths compared to 
2016. However, changes in the nature of GCSE’s means any comparison 
with previous years should be treated with caution. The Rees Centre 
Research also highlights the specific characteristics of Looked After 
Children, particularly at KS4 which means it often unhelpful to make 
comparisons with all pupils. 

 
9.17 2017’s year 11 cohort included range of pupils. It included a small number of 

highly motivated and able pupils, who achieved excellent results.  2 pupils 
gained outstanding results, achieving A*’s, A’s and B’s in the majority of their 
subjects. However, the cohort also 5 included pupils with Statements/EHCP 
who were not predicted to achieve high grades or it was deemed 
inappropriate for them to sit GCSEs and 5 pupils who attended either special 
residential schools or were enrolled at alternative provisions.  In addition, the 
cohort included 2 pupils who were school refusers and therefore were not 
entered for GCSE’s and one pupil who experienced a lengthy fixed term 
exclusion, which consequently impacted upon their attainment. 

 

Page 97



9.18 Nevertheless, it is very positive to note that all pupils who were entered for 
examinations achieved at least three qualifications.  Attendance was not a 
concern in the same way as previous years, with an average attendance of 
83%.  There were four pupils whose attendance dropped below 85%, all with 
quite significant personal circumstances surrounding this. For these 
individuals, 50% of them have had at least one placement move in the last 
twelve months, with almost half having more than 3 placement moves linked 
to behaviours and needs. This contributed greatly to their ability to engage 
with education and consequently to their results.    

 
9.19 It should be noted that two pupils who performed well have been excluded 

from the above figures. One young person was a late entry to care who was 
predicted 8F-G’s upon arrival, however, ended up achieving all A*-B or 
equivalent results and one young person was held down in Year 10 and 
achieved 5A*Cs including English and Maths.  Both are excellent examples of 
how carefully tailored interventions and the appropriate level of support can 
result in positive outcomes and attainment.   

 
9.20 The cohort was supported by a series of interventions to improve attainment 

and progress. This included the creative use of Pupil Premium to support the 
training of school staff, which enabled them to have a better understanding of 
the required interventions to support pupils, the use of 1-1 tuition and the 
provision of in-class support.  Effective use of Pupil Premium was monitored 
by the PEP process and the Virtual School’s tracking system. Specific projects 
were organised to support high achieving pupils and to support SEN pupils. 
All pupils except one have a school or college placement for this academic 
year and it is expected many will continue to progress. 

 
9.21 Post-16 and Care Leavers: End of Academic Year Performance  
 

 
Hammersmith and Fulham 

2015-16 
Hammersmith and 
Fulham 2016-17 

% of 16 and 17 year olds who are 
EET 

92% 93% 

% of 18-25 year olds who are 
EET 

71% 74% 

%  and number attending 
university 

17% (25 people) 17% (29 people) 

%  completed apprenticeships  3% 5% 

%  in training or employment 6% 8% 

 
9.22 Outcomes for 16 and 17 year olds are an area of strength in Hammersmith & 

Fulham.  Much of this can be attributed to the support offered by the Virtual 
School advisory teacher social workers and carers.  All 16 and 17 year olds 
continue to have an allocated Virtual School advisory teacher, which ensures 
these pupils continue to receive the support of the Virtual School until they 
finish statutory education or training at 18.  Beyond 18, the Virtual School 
provide duty days where they offer advice, support and guidance to 18-25 
year olds.  These are offered twice a week during term time and have 
supported improving the number of 18-25 year olds who are EET. While some 
progress has been made in addressing the issues and barriers around 

Page 98



sustaining education, training and employment for Care Leavers, the number 
of Care Leavers who are NEET remains a continued area of focus and it is 
our ambition to achieve further improvements.  We have recently appointed a 
Post 16 EET Co-ordinator. The key priorities of this new role is to develop 
partnerships with Council colleagues and with businesses outside the Council 
to create a wider range of ambitious, stimulating and rewarding 
apprenticeships and employment opportunities specifically for Hammersmith 
& Fulham care leavers. The post intends to be enterprising and take account 
of the wealth of businesses located within the borough. There have been a 
number of very successful cases where long term NEET young people have 
been successfully re-engaged in training or employment and we are 
continuing to explore how we can build more capacity in this area.   

 
9.23 The numbers of Care Leavers in Higher Education continues to be strength 

and the work of the Virtual School in this area over the last few years has 
been a significant factor in contributing to this. There are currently 29 Care 
Leavers in Higher Education. We now have two Care Leavers studying at 
Cambridge. Care Leavers at university continue to progress well and many 
continue to receive positive support from the Virtual School and Leaving Care 
Service.   

 
9.24 Attendance and Exclusions 
 

 2015 2016 2017 

Average attendance R-11 90% 93% 94% 

Number with one or more fixed term exclusion 16 11 12 

Number with permanent exclusion 0% 0% 0% 

 
9.25 The attendance figures for 2017 demonstrate an increase in performance over 

the past year. This reflects the work of all professionals in ensuring regular 
attendance at school for all pupils. There has been a decline in the number of 
pupils classed as Persistently Absent or missing school through not having a 
school place. A particular pressure going forward however, is the number of 
unaccompanied minors coming into care in year 11 without notice and without 
an immediate school place. 

 
9.26 As in previous years there were no permanent exclusions during 2016-17. 

This reflects the work the Virtual School undertakes directly with schools, 
social workers and carers in developing strategies to avoid permanent 
exclusion. The Virtual School works intensively to improve attendance, 
engagement and behaviour for learning, however, given that the majority of 
the care population are adolescents, who often have a poor education record 
prior to entering the care system this is an issue of continued challenge and 
focus. The Virtual School works closely with social care professionals and 
schools to identify pupils who are at risk of exclusion or have been excluded 
for a short period.  Where the team has concerns that a fixed term exclusion is 
an indication that a particular school is not able to meet the needs to a pupil, 
the Virtual School’s Educational Psychologist will work with the school to 
identify strategies to improve behaviour, or alternatively carry out an 

Page 99



assessment, which may indicate that an another education provision is 
needed. 

 
10. LAC ASSIST SERVICE 
 
10.1 The impetus in creating the LAC Assist Team and this invest to save delivery 

model, which commenced in April 2017, was to develop additional strategies 
to working with some of the most challenging children and young people who 
are at greatest risk of experiencing placement breakdowns and being placed 
in the highest cost residential units and semi-independent accommodation. 
The aims of the service are to increase placement stability, support a 
reduction in increased placement costs, increase opportunities to reunify 
children with their families when it is safe to do so, increase successful 
transition to independence, sustain lower cost placements and reduce 
tenancy breakdown. The service priorities are children and young people who 
have experienced placement breakdowns or are at risk of placement 
breakdowns, those in or at risk of moving to high cost placements, children 
who could potentially be rehabilitated back to their family’s care and 
sustaining this, and care leavers who are not making sufficient progress to 
enable them to move to independent living in final stage accommodation. The 
team provides intensive support which mirrors that provided by the Family 
Assist model which was highly praised by Ofsted inspectors. 
 

10.2 The team is currently working with 20 children ranging in ages from 0 to over 
20 years old. The work ranges from stabilising existing placements, stepping 
down the level of semi-independent support towards independent living and 
working with young people in residential placements. The team has 
successfully engaged with all of the children and young people referred to 
them and have achieved a number of positive outcomes including improved 
communication and contact, adherence to boundaries and school attendance 
and reduced risky behaviours such as going missing which in turn improve 
placement stability. Outcomes have included a child who had been in care 
long term, with a high frequency of missing incidents moving back to the care 
of his father and re-engaging with education, a baby being placed with his 
father and avoiding long term care and adoption, a 17-year-old moving to a 
lower level of supported independent living accommodation, a 15-year-old 
moving out of a placement costing £4000 per week to the care of his mother 
and a young person who was living in a high cost residential setting who has 
successfully stepped down to semi-independent accommodation. There has 
been a range of positive feedback from parents and professionals testifying to 
the beneficial impact of the intensive, flexible and skilled approach offered by 
LAC Assist practitioners, highlighting the difference made through building 
trusting and respectful relationships with complex and previously hard to 
reach young people. 
 

10.3 Within 6 months of operating at October 2017 this invest to save model was 
contributing to savings totalling £276k which is 47.9% of the total yearly 
requirement, and is predicted to save £530k at financial year end. This is just 
below target for the first 2 quarters, but reflects a team only 6 months into 

Page 100



operation and the need to ensure any proposed moves for children and young 
people are appropriately paced and in their best interests.  
 

11. PLACEMENTS STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT 
 
11.1 Following internal audit recommendations to develop a placement strategy, 

officers across Children’s Services directorate have been working 
collaboratively to develop a transformational placement strategy that will 
strengthen practice, increase quality and contribute to the savings agenda. 

 
11.2 A series of strategic projects over the next two years have been co-developed 

though market research, data analysis, extensive stakeholder engagement, 
and project scoping. This process has enabled strategic themes to be 
targeted directly to local priorities and initial gains include: 

  
The delivery of alternative accommodation solutions, creating a more 
child centred approach and deliver greater efficiencies: Children’s 
Services has been working with Housing Solutions to secure a new 
accommodation option for care leavers with low support needs (for example 
older former-UASC who are still awaiting their immigration decision and/or 
young people who are attending university). Floating support will be provided 
to young people at 1a Shepherds Bush Road from May 2018, reducing 
dependency on out of borough placements, commissioned through spot 
purchase arrangements.  
 
EDT and out of hour’s: revised processes and systems to support: 
Following the repurposing of St. Marks residential home (a resource owned by 
Kensington and Chelsea previously utilised for emergency placements, often 
out of hours) in June 2017, the emergency duty team implemented an 
alternative placement protocol to manage the need for placements outside 
core hours. The revised emergency placement strategy, and the use of 
alternative placements (including foster care and semi-independent 
accommodation), has resulted in more children and young people accessing 
more appropriate placements based on the needs of the individual. The 
programme has also led to the development of an out of hours’ support offer 
for foster carers. This will provide greater support to carers and enhance 
placement stability.  
 
Developing an enhanced fostering service, reducing the need for 
residential placements: This programme will develop an enhanced, 
targeted, in-house fostering service that will be capable of supporting more 
complex young people, through a sustainable, planned and person-centred 
approach. Children’s Commissioning have been working with the business 
intelligence function to develop a better understanding of the applicable 
evidence-based interventions and associated theory of change. It is 
suggested that the enhanced fostering model will include respite care, peer 
support for children and carers, out of hours’ professional support, an 
enhanced training offer for carers and extended accommodation provision. A 
task and finish group has been established to review the evidence and 
develop a business case.  

Page 101



  
11.3 The next step would be to approve a set of priorities for 2018-19 and 

undertake detailed financial analysis of the savings potential of each strategic 
theme, and agree a timetable for delivery. 

  
12. ENGAGEMENT AND PARTICIPATION  
 
12.1 Hammersmith and Fulham offers an extensive programme of participation for 

both Looked After Children and Care Leavers, providing them with 
opportunities to participate and engage with the service. This programme 
includes a variety of groups, consultation events and projects. In doing so, it is 
recognised that the children and young people we work with want to 
participate in different ways and in varying degrees. Some young people want 
direct involvement in consultation and decision making whilst others might 
want to attend a group or activity. This means that we have a core group of 
looked after children and care leavers that frequently participate within all 
aspects of the programme and more specific opportunities that attract many of 
the wider population. 

 
12.2 The Virtual School and Participation and Engagement Team have organised a 

variety of engagement activities over the past year, including: 
 
Looked After Children and Care Leaver’s Activities – The Children in Care 
Council (CICC) continues to progress well. The Children’s Rights Service 
(CRS) have been supporting a group that meet regularly every month and 
numbers fluctuate between 5-10 persons. The CRS also supports a virtual 
group running alongside the group able to attend meetings and that group 
consists of around another 10 persons too. The CICC offers an opportunity to 
meet with other children and young people in care and those that are care 
leavers to raise service delivery issues that will affect this cohort. The group 
exists to promote the active participation to children and young people 
supported by the council who want a say in how decisions are made, what 
type of services exist and are being developed and just as importantly 
participate in those council activities that affect them. The Corporate Parenting 
Board meetings include several members of the CICC who have raised a 
number of issues over the last year with the Board. These have resulted in a 
number of changes such as 16-18 year olds no longer paying service charges 
in hostels provisions and improving Wi-Fi availability within the hostels. The 
CICC is active in reaching out to children and young people not just resident 
in the borough but more widely throughout the UK. However, an identified 
area of improvement is how we shape the Corporate Parenting Board to 
include younger Looked After Children rather than primarily Care Leavers and 
that the service developments arising from the Board discussions in turn also 
have a focus on younger children.  

 
Involvement in recruitment / training – Young people continue to be a part 
of recruitment and training for Family Services staff and sit on interview panels 
with Officers. This has included being involved in the recruitment of the Team 
Manager within Care Leaving Team and the staff within LAC Assist Team.  

 

Page 102



Thematic Consultations - The Children in Care Council has worked 
collaboratively with the Virtual School to widen the reach of participation, 
carrying out a series of surveys that engages a wider audience and gathers 
views across the age and range of young people who are either Looked After 
Children or Care Leavers. Four quarterly thematic consultations have been 
conducted with children and young people during 2016-17 based on the 
following topics: The Voice of the Child, What’s Education Like for Me, 
Housing, Having a Say on Health. Additionally, an overview survey was 
completed in the summer addressing the key aspects of being in care. Each 
of these consultations have resulted in detailed reports which are presented at 
Corporate Parenting Boards and the findings and young people’s 
recommendations feed into the service development plan.  

 
Enrichment Programme – The Virtual School has continued to run a wide 
range of activities specifically for Looked After Children, Foster Carers and 
Care Leavers during 2016-17. The projects are run in conjunction with 
partners including the Lyric Theatre, the BBC, Tate Modern, the Arvon 
Foundation and Imperial College. Projects have included film making, a 
writing residential in Yorkshire, musical performance at the Royal Albert Hall 
and art and design at the Welcome Collection. One child said of their 
experience at a project ran at the Tate - “It makes a difference to me because 
it’s relaxing. It also calms me down if I am upset…you feel a lot better when 
you have done something amazing. And it makes you feel good about 
yourself”. In addition, the Virtual School ran a residential at Jamie’s Farm 
specifically for Hammersmith and Fulham female Care Leavers to address 
self-esteem, goal setting and identity.  

 
12.3 Further developments taking place in 2017-18 include the develop and launch 

of the Peer Mentoring Scheme called “Aspire, Believe and Achieve” which 
matches older Care Leavers to support and guide younger children in care to 
run an 18-week programme including a residential with a focus on aspirations 
and achievements. Members of the Children in Care Council have developed 
this programme and a number have expressed an interest in providing 
mentoring to younger children in care. A group specifically for young care 
leavers who are parents or expectant parents called will launch in December 
2017 and aims to provide both parenting support, reduce isolation through 
meeting other parents and enable them to voice issues of concern regarding 
services for this specific group of Care Leavers. 

 
13. OUTCOMES FOR CARE LEAVERS  
 
13.1 At the end of March 2017 there were 189 Care Leavers within the service, the 

highest number in recent years. The increased volume links to a developing 
trend in relation to older citizen young people with complex needs entering 
care along with an increase in the overall numbers of unaccompanied minors 
aged 16 and above. As at 31st March 2017 Hammersmith & Fulham had 38 
UASC an increase from 26 at 31st March 2016 and 22 at 31st March 2015. 

 
 
 

Page 103



As at 31st March 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

LBHF 162 162 163 160 170 189 

RBKC 135 140 131 130 147 142 

WCC 158 160 160 160 166 166 

Table 12: Total number of Care Leavers supported (aged 18-25) at year ending 31st 
March 

 
13.2 The key functions of practitioners working with Care Leavers is to assist, 

befriend and advise young people to make a successful transition from the 
Council’s care to independent living in the community. This includes 
assessing their needs and drawing up a Pathway Plan for their on-going 
support. The Pathway Plan sets out the support available for all aspect of their 
life, with a particular emphasis on securing settled accommodation and 
appropriate education, training and employment (EET). The Local Authority 
has a duty towards eligible and relevant and former relevant children.  The 
Leaving Care Act has two main aims: 

• To ensure that young people do not leave care until they are ready. 

• To ensure that they receive more effective support once they have left. 
 

13.3 The report of the National Audit Office to the Government in July 2015 on 
Care Leavers transition to adulthood identified that Care Leavers’ life 
experiences can include social exclusion, unemployment, health problems or 
ending up in custody. They recommended the need for a targeted approach, 
integrated working and the evaluation of data in respect of impact. 

 
13.4 Since 2011 a former care leaver over the age of 21, but under 25, and closed 

to the service is able to return to ask for their case to be reopened in order to 
complete a course of EET up to the level of a first degree. The legislative 
changes arising from the Children and Social Work Act 2017 extends this to 
include that they can return to seek advice, support and the allocation of a 
Personal Advisor up until the age of 25 irrespective of whether they are in 
education and if they are NEET. Care Leavers can opt out of this but have the 
freedom to request support at a subsequent stage. Projections indicate that 
this could lead to an additional 108 Care Leavers aged 21-25 years open to 
the service by 2020-21, albeit some may not wish to receive the full duties or 
may choose to fully opt out. 
 

13.5 Care Leaver’s education, training and employment outcomes continue to 
improve steadily, with more Care Leavers in education, training or 
employment than in previous years. Hammersmith and Fulham performance 
remains stronger than Care Leavers nationally (which is 58% EET) and is a 
key priority for the Leaving Care Teams and the Virtual School. At 31st March 
2017, 74% of care leavers were in education, employment or training (those 
not included young parents, those in psychiatric units and those in custody) 
compared with 71% at 31st March 2016.  The number of Care Leavers 
attending university remains positive (29 during 2016-17 compared with 25 

Page 104



during 2015-16 with 6 commencing in Autumn 2017), is above the national 
average for those leaving care and reflects the work of professionals in raising 
the attainment and aspirations of pupils. This includes two Care Leavers that 
are currently attending Cambridge University and one Care Leaving achieving 
a 1st Class Honours in Engineering.  Current degrees range from Medicine, 
Engineering, Law, HR, Pharmaceutical Science, English Literature, Natural 
Sciences and International Tourism.  
 

13.6 A key priority is improving the availability, choice and promotion of good 
quality apprenticeships and employment for Care Leavers and is an area we 
want to further improve upon. The Virtual School and Leaving Care Teams 
hold a monthly EET Panel to track and monitor EET performance and further 
identify the support needs for those that are NEET or at risk of becoming 
NEET. Support offered includes support with writing CVs, interview 
preparation, accompanying young people to interviews, publicising job 
vacancies on a weekly basis, providing drop in sessions with the post 16 EET 
Worker and individualised packages to support Care Leavers in accessing 
and sustaining employment and training, and Hammersmith and Fulham have 
recently appointed a Post 16 EET Co-ordinator. The key priorities for this new 
role is to develop partnerships with council colleagues and with businesses to 
create a wider range of ambitious, stimulating and rewarding apprenticeships 
and employment opportunities specifically for Care Leavers. The post intends 
to be enterprising and take account of the wealth of businesses located within 
the borough. Current apprenticeships for Care Leavers include with British 
Rail, Lloyds TSB, the NHS, Royal Mail, as a trainee chef with The Lyric, in 
Hairdressing and within Hammersmith and Fulham as a Youth Voice 
apprentice within Early Help. 
 

13.7 There are continued challenges in reducing NEET levels for Care Leavers 
given their needs are often more complex than peers who have not 
experienced care. A number of Care Leavers are in custody including those 
that first entered care as a result of being remanded, a high number have 
complex mental health needs, a number of late entrants to care have a range 
of complex behavioural and emotional needs and have had a disrupted 
education, and there has been an increase in the number of former UASC 
Care Leavers who have experienced disrupted education or not had a formal 
education prior to entering the UK.  The Virtual School and Leaving Care 
Teams are working together to tackle these issues and to improve our 
understanding of the needs of specific groups of Care Leavers. 
 

13.8 At the end of March 2017 77% of Care Leavers were in suitable 
accommodation, a reduction from 81% at the same point in 2016. The 
majority not in suitable accommodation the were either in custody or had 
disengaged from the service.  There were no Care Leavers evicted from their 
final stage accommodation during 2016-17.  
 

13.9 From April 2017 Hammersmith and Fulham began to financially support Care 
Leavers who are liable to pay council tax charges until they reach 25 years. 
Hammersmith and Fulham was the first London authority to introduce and 
spearhead this change. Nationally thirty-five other local authorities have since 

Page 105



introduced this exemption. Managing budgets can be very challenging for 
vulnerable young people adjusting to living independently. This exemption is 
intended to ensure that as they begin to manage their finances as young 
adults that the Council relieves some of this pressure and that they are given 
this additional help as they move from care to independence.  The decision 
follows a report by the Children’s Society, called “Wolf at the Door” which 
revealed that council tax debt can be a particularly frightening experience for 
Care Leavers. What can start out for many Care Leavers as falling slightly 
behind can very quickly escalate to a court summons and enforcement action 
being taken. This additional support will give our Care Leavers a helping hand 
in their first step towards independence, helping them to avoid debt as they 
learn to manage their finances. 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
None. 

Page 106



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

CHILDREN AND EDUCATION POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
29 January 2018 

 

 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Report of the Chair – Councillor Caroline Needham 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification: For information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Sarah Thomas, Director for Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author: 
David Abbott, Scrutiny Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2063 
E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The Committee is asked to review its work programme. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 The Committee is asked to review the proposed work programme and suggest 
changes or further items for consideration where appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
None. 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
Appendix 1 – Work Programme 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


Updated 19 January 2018 

CEPAC Work Programme 2017-18 
 
 
12 March 2018      Report deadline: 26 February 

 School Performance Report – Ian Heggs / Richard Stanley 

 Skills for Young People – preparation for work, careers guidance, and 
career related opportunities. Youth Council to lead – committee to listen to 
their concerns. 

 Gangs and Knife Crime – current policy & prevention work, what’s working, 
what’s left to do. Information report with verbal updates / discussion with 
outreach workers. 

 
 
23 April 2018      Report deadline: 9 April 

 School Organisation and Investment Strategy – Ian Heggs / Richard 
Stanley 

 Update on the new soverign H&F SEND service – Mandy Lawson 

Page 108


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Director's Update Report
	6 A draft consultative report on H&F Council’s Emergency Response to Major Incidents in June and September 2017
	Appendix 1 - A draft consultative report on H&F Council’s Emergency Response to Major Incidents
	Fire Safety Plus Booklet

	7 Children's Services Budget Proposals 2018-19
	Appendix 1 - Savings and Growth Proposals
	Appendix 2 - Risks
	Appendix 3 - Draft Equality Impact Assessment

	8 Looked After Children Annual Report 2016-17
	9 Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - Work Programme 2017-18


